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APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.

Shareholders may obtain the prospectus, the key investor information document, the latest annual and semi-annual
reports, the changes in the composition of the securities portfolio during the reporting period and copies of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association free of charge from the registered office of the Manager or the local
representatives in the countries where the Company is registered.

This annual report and audited financial statements (the “Report and Accounts”) may be translated into other languages.
Any such translation shall only contain the same information and have the same meaning as the English language
Report and Accounts. To the extent that there is any inconsistency between the English language Report and Accounts
and the Report and Accounts in another language, the English language Report and Accounts will prevail, except to the
extent (and only to the extent) that it is required by law of any jurisdiction where the shares are sold, that in an action
based upon disclosure in a Report and Accounts in a language other than English, the language of the Report and
Accounts on which such action is based shall prevail. Any disputes as to the terms of the Report and Accounts,
regardless of the language of the Report and Accounts, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws
of Ireland.
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Investment Manager’s Report

Dear Shareholders:

We are pleased to present the following report on the performance of the iShares VIl Plc for the year ended 31 July 2013.

The Company currently has 46 Funds, each with an investment objective to track or replicate an index (“Reference

Index”), which are listed in the table below and overleaf:

Fund Name?

iShares MSCI UK Large Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI UK Small Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI USA Large Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI USA Small Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI Japan Large Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI Japan Small Cap UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF

iShares USD Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares USD Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares USD Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares Euro Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares Euro Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares Euro Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares USD Inflation Linked Bond UCITS ETF
iShares Euro Inflation Link Bond UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI USA - B UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI Japan - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares MSCI Pacific ex Japan UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares MSCI Canada - B UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI UK UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF

iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares Dow Jones Industrial Average® UCITS ETF
iShares NASDAQ 100 UCITS ETF

iShares FTSE 100 UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares FTSE MIB UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares Nikkei 225 UCITS ETF

iShares S&P 500 - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares MSCI South Africa - B UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI EM Asia UCITS ETF

iShares CSI 300 UCITS ETF (Swap)*

iShares MSCI EM EMEA UCITS ETF (Swap)*
iShares MSCI India UCITS ETF (Swap)*

iShares MSCI Korea UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares MSCI Taiwan UCITS ETF (Swap)*

iShares MSCI Australia - B UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI EM Latin America UCITS ETF (Acc)

Please refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.

*These Funds terminated subsequent to the year end.

Reference Index

MSCI UK Large Cap

MSCI UK Small Cap

MSCI USA Large Cap

MSCI USA Small Cap

MSCI Japan Large Cap

MSCI Japan Small Cap

MSCI EMU Small Cap

Markit iBoxx US Treasuries 1-3 Index
Markit iBoxx US Treasuries 3-7 Index
Markit iBoxx US Treasuries 7-10 Index
Markit iBoxx EUR Sovereigns 1-3 Index
Markit iBoxx EUR Sovereigns 3-7 Index
Markit iBoxx EUR Sovereigns 7-10 Index
Markit iBoxx Tips Inflation-Linked Index
Markit iBoxx Euro Sovereigns Inflation-Linked Index
MSCI USA

MSCI Japan

MSCI Europe

MSCI Pacific ex Japan

MSCI Canada

MSCI UK

MSCI EMU

EURO STOXX 50®

Dow Jones Industrial AverageSM
NASDAQ 100

FTSE 100

FTSE MIB

Nikkei 225

S&P 500

MSCI South Africa Index Net USD
MSCI EM Asia Index Net USD

CSI 300

MSCI EM EMEA Index Net USD

MSCI India Index Net USD

MSCI Korea Index Net USD

MSCI Taiwan Index Net USD

MSCI Australia Index Net USD

MSCI EM Latin America Index Net USD



iShares VIl plc

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 July 2013
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Fund Name (continued)”

iShares MSCI Mexico Capped UCITS ETF
iShares MSCI Russia ADR/GDR UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI Brazil UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares MSCI Chile UCITS ETF
iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap)*

iShares MSCI World - B UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap)*

iShares Global Alternative Energy UCITS ETF*

Reference Index (continued)

MSCI Mexico Capped Index Net USD
MSCI Russia ADR/GDR Index Net USD
MSCI Brazil Index Net USD

MSCI Chile Index Net USD

Credit Suisse EONIA Total Return Index
MSCI World Index Net in USD

Credit Suisse Fed Funds Effective Rate Total Return Index

Credit Suisse Global Alternative Energy Index Net USD

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
*These Funds terminated subsequent to the year end.

Tracking Difference

Tracking difference is defined as the difference in returns between a fund and its benchmark index.

Cash management, trading costs, fees, stock lending income and swap spreads can have an impact on tracking.

Importantly, the impact can be either positive or negative depending on the underlying circumstances.

The table below compares the Fund performance against the performance of the relevant benchmark index during the

year ended 31 July 2013. An explanation for the difference gross of TER is provided.

Fund”?

Fund
Return
to 31-
July-

2013

Index
Return
to 31-
July-

2013

Tracking
difference
net of
TER

TER

Tracking
difference
gross of
TER

Reasons for tracking difference
gross of TER

iShares MSCI UK Large Cap
UCITS ETF

18.80%

19.42%

(0.62%)

0.48%

(0.14%)

The underperformance of the Fund
was due to cash drag (i.e. the small
portions of the portfolio held as cash
did not perform with the index).

iShares MSCI UK Small Cap
UCITS ETF

39.13%

40.76%

(1.63%)

0.58%

(1.05%)

The underperformance of the Fund
was due to optimised sampling and
cash drag (i.e. the small portions of
the portfolio held as cash did not
perform with the index).

iShares MSCI USA Large Cap
UCITS ETF

23.02%

22.99%

0.03%

0.33%

0.36%

The outperformance of the Fund was
due to differences in tax rates
applied.

iShares MSCI USA Small Cap
UCITS ETF

34.15%

34.48%

(0.33%)

0.43%

0.10%

The outperformance of the Fund was
due to optimised sampling and
differences in tax rates applied.

iShares MSCI Japan Large Cap
UCITS ETF

58.01%

58.92%

(0.91%)

0.48%

(0.43%)

The Fund’s underperformance was
due to a dividend drag effect: some
Japanese dividends are announced
and accrued to the NAV much earlier
than they are actually received by
the fund. During this period the
outstanding dividend amounts are
exposed to Japanese equity market’s
performance using TOPIX futures
because there are no exact futures

A Please refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements
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Investment Manager’s Report (continued)

Fund Index Tracking TER Tracking Reasons for tracking difference
Fund# Return | Return | difference difference gross of TER
to 31- to 31- net of gross of
July- July- TER TER
2013 2013
iShares MSCI Japan Large Cap available for this MSCI index. The
UCITS ETF (continued) exposure is an imperfect match
and so a slight performance
difference can result.
iShares MSCI Japan Small Cap | 50.19% | 50.70% (0.51%) 0.58% 0.07% The outperformance of the Fund
UCITS ETF (Acc) was due to optimised sampling and
dividend drag.
iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap 32.12% | 32.13% (0.01%) 0.58% 0.57% The outperformance of the Fund
UCITS ETF was due to optimised sampling,
stock lending and differences in tax
rates applied.
iShares USD Government Bond 0.01% 0.20% (0.19%) 0.23% 0.04% The Fund performed in line with the
1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) index before costs.
iShares USD Government Bond | (1.82%) | (1.65%) (0.17%) 0.23% 0.06% The outperformance of the Fund
3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) was due to optimised sampling.
iShares USD Government Bond | (4.97%) | (4.87%) (0.10%) 0.23% 0.13% The outperformance of the Fund
7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) was due to optimised sampling.
iShares Euro Government Bond 2.79% 3.03% (0.24%) 0.23% (0.01%) The Fund performed in line with the
1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) index before costs.
iShares Euro Government Bond 5.24% 5.47% (0.23%) 0.23% 0.00% The Fund performed in line with the
3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) index before costs.
iShares Euro Government Bond 7.18% 7.48% (0.30%) 0.23% (0.07%) | The underperformance of the Fund
7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) was due to optimised sampling.
iShares USD Inflation Linked (6.72%) | (7.08%) 0.36% 0.28% 0.64% The outperformance of the Fund
Bond UCITS ETF was due to differences in index
provider prices (i.e. the index uses
different pricing sources on
constituents).
iShares Euro Inflation Link Bond 6.17% 6.48% (0.31%) 0.28% (0.03%) The Fund performed in line with the
UCITS ETF index before costs.
iShares MSCI USA - B UCITS 24.46% | 24.46% 0.00% 0.33% 0.33% The outperformance of the Fund
ETF was due to differences in tax rates
applied (i.e. the fund enjoys a
better withholding tax rate than the
index applies to its distributions).
iShares MSCI Japan - BUCITS | 57.90% | 58.67% (0.77%) 0.48% (0.29%) The underperformance of the Fund
ETF (Acc) was due to dividend drag.
iShares MSCI Europe - B 16.89% | 17.05% (0.16%) 0.33% 0.17% The outperformance of the Fund
UCITS ETF (Acc) was due to stock lending and
differences in tax rates applied.
iShares MSCI Pacific ex Japan 8.13% 8.68% (0.55%) 0.48% (0.07%) | The underperformance of the Fund
UCITS ETF (Acc) was due to the Fund’s tax status
and dividend drag.
iShares MSCI Canada - B 10.11% | 10.13% (0.02%) 0.48% 0.46% The outperformance of the Fund
UCITS ETF was due to stock lending.
iShares MSCI UK UCITS ETF 21.26% | 21.75% (0.49%) 0.33% (0.16%) The underperformance of the Fund
was due to a cash drag.

A Please refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements
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Investment Manager’s Report (continued)

Fund”?

Fund
Return
to 31-
July-

2013

Index
Return
to 31-
July-

2013

Tracking
difference
net of
TER

TER

Tracking

difference

gross of
TER

Reasons for tracking difference
gross of TER

iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF

23.26%

23.16%

0.10%

0.33%

0.43%

The outperformance of the Fund
was due to stock lending and
differences in tax rates applied (i.e.
the fund enjoys a better withholding
tax rate than the index applies to
some of its constituents'
distributions).

iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B
UCITS ETF (Acc)

23.03%

22.63%

0.40%

0.20%

0.60%

The outperformance of the Fund
was due to differences in tax rates
applied (i.e. the fund enjoys a
better withholding tax rate than the
index applies to some of its
constituents' distributions).

iShares Dow Jones Industrial
IAverage®™ UCITS ETF

21.45%

21.39%

0.06%

0.33%

0.39%

The outperformance of the Fund
was due to differences in tax rates
applied (i.e. the fund enjoys a
better withholding tax rate than the
index applies to its constituents'
distributions).

iShares NASDAQ 100 UCITS
ETF

18.05%

18.70%

(0.65%)

0.33%

(0.32%)

The underperformance of the Fund
was due to tax rates not being
applied by the Index (i.e. the fund
must pay withholding tax on
dividends received, but the gross
index calculation does not apply
such taxes to its constituents'
distributions).

iShares FTSE 100 UCITS ETF
(Acc)

21.45%

21.97%

(0.52%)

0.33%

(0.19%)

The underperformance of the Fund
was due to a cash drag.

iShares FTSE MIB UCITS ETF
(Acc)

21.74%

22.73%

(0.99%)

0.33%

(0.66%)

The underperformance of the Fund
was due to tax rates not being
applied by the Index (i.e. the fund
pays more withholding tax on
dividends received than the index
applies to its constituents’
distributions).

iShares Nikkei 225 UCITS ETF

59.29%

57.20%

2.09%

0.48%

2.57%

The outperformance of the Fund
was due to dividends the Fund
received and re-invested (i.e. the
price index does not re-invest
dividends).

iShares S&P 500 - B UCITS
ETF (Acc)

24.32%

24.16%

0.16%

0.20%

0.36%

The outperformance of the Fund
was due to differences in tax rates
applied.

iShares MSCI South Africa - B (5.

UCITS ETF

80%) | (5.29%)

(0.51%)

0.65%

0.14%

The outperformance of the Fund
was due to a cash drag.

iShares MSCI EM Asia UCITS 5.

ETF

00% 6.78%

(1.78%)

0.65%

(1.13%)

The underperformance of the Fund
was due to optimised sampling.

A Please refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements
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Tracking Difference (continued)

Fund” Fund Index Tracking TER Tracking Reasons for tracking
Return Return | difference difference difference gross of TER
to 31- to 31- net of gross of
July- July- TER TER

2013 2013
iShares CSI 300 UCITS ETF (1.91%) (0.19%) (1.72%) 0.50% (1.22%) The underperformance of the
(Swap) Fund was due to the swap

spreads. Swap spreads are paid
(or earned) by synthetically
replicating sub-funds to (or from)
the swap provider/counterparty
to achieve the performance of
their reference indices (by
exchanging every day the
performance of the funds’
substitute basket for the
performance of their respective
reference indices). These costs
are accrued daily in the NAV and
impact sub-funds' value and
therefore contribute to greater
tracking difference.

iShares MSCI EM EMEA UCITS | (1.85%) (0.58%) (1.27%) 0.65% (0.62%) The underperformance of the
ETF (Swap) Fund was due to the swap
spreads. Swap spreads are paid
(or earned) by synthetically
replicating sub-funds to (or from)
the swap provider/counterparty
to achieve the performance of
their reference indices (by
exchanging every day the
performance of the funds’
substitute basket for the
performance of their respective
reference indices). These costs
are accrued daily in the NAV and
impact sub-funds' value and
therefore contribute to greater
tracking difference.

iShares MSCI India UCITS ETF 3.06% 417% (1.11%) 0.75% (0.36%) | The underperformance of the
(Swap) Fund was due to the swap
spreads. Swap spreads are paid
(or earned) by synthetically
replicating sub-funds to (or from)
the swap provider/counterparty
to achieve the performance of
their reference indices (by
exchanging every day the
performance of the funds’
substitute basket for the
performance of their respective
reference indices).

A Please refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements
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Investment Manager’s Report (continued)

Tracking Difference (continued)

Fund” Fund Index Tracking TER Tracking Reasons for tracking
Return Return | difference difference difference gross of TER
to 31- to 31- net of gross of
July- July- TER TER
2013 2013

iShares MSCI India UCITS ETF These costs are accrued daily in

(Swap) (continued) the NAV and impact sub-funds'
value and therefore contribute to
greater tracking difference.

iShares MSCI Korea UCITS (0.43%) 0.19% (0.62%) 0.65% 0.03% The Fund performed in line with

ETF (Acc) the index before costs.

iShares MSCI Taiwan UCITS 14.17% 14.25% (0.08%) 0.65% 0.57% The outperformance of the Fund

ETF (Swap) was due to the swap spreads.
Swap spreads are paid (or
earned) by synthetically
replicating sub-funds to (or from)
the swap provider/counterparty
to achieve the performance of
their reference indices (by
exchanging every day the
performance of the funds’
substitute basket for the
performance of their respective
reference indices).
These costs are accrued daily in
the NAV and impact sub-funds’
value and therefore contribute to
greater tracking difference.

iShares MSCI Australia - B 5.59% 6.03% (0.44%) 0.50% 0.06% The outperformance of the Fund

UCITS ETF was due to differences in tax
rates applied.

iShares MSCI EM Latin America | (9.61%) (9.13%) (0.48%) 0.65% 0.17% The outperformance of the Fund

UCITS ETF (Acc) was due to dividend drag.

iShares MSCI Mexico Capped 5.39% 5.99% (0.60%) 0.65% 0.05% The Fund performed in line with

UCITS ETF the index before costs.

iShares MSCI Russia (2.19%) 1.79% (3.98%) 0.65% (3.33%) The underperformance of the

IADR/GDR UCITS ETF Fund was due to swap spreads,
the swap-to-physical replication
conversion and differences in
dividend re-investment cycles.

iShares MSCI Brazil UCITS (14.25%) | (13.71%) (0.54%) 0.65% 0.11% The outperformance of the Fund

ETF (Acc) was due to a cash drag.

iShares MSCI Chile UCITS ETF | (18.91%) | (18.57%) (0.34%) 0.65% 0.31% The outperformance of the Fund
was due to a cash drag.

iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (0.06%) 0.09% (0.15%) 0.14% (0.01%) | The Fund performed in line with

(Swap) the index before costs.

iShares MSCI World - B UCITS 22.79% 23.24% (0.45%) 0.40% (0.05%) | The Fund performed in line with

ETF (Acc) the index before costs.

A Please refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements

11
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Investment Manager’s Report (continued)

Tracking Difference (continued)

Fund” Fund Index Tracking TER Tracking Reasons for tracking
Return Return | difference difference difference gross of TER
to 31- to 31- net of gross of
July- July- TER TER

2013 2013
iShares Fed Funds Effective (0.23%) 0.14% (0.37%) 0.14% (0.23%) The underperformance of the
Rate UCITS ETF (Swap) Fund was due to the swap

spreads. Swap spreads are paid
(or earned) by synthetically
replicating sub-funds to (or from)
the swap provider/counterparty
to achieve the performance of
their reference indices (by
exchanging every day the
performance of the funds’
substitute basket for the
performance of their respective
reference indices). These costs
are accrued daily in the NAV and
impact sub-funds' value and
therefore contribute to greater
tracking difference.

iShares Global Alternative 23.03% 23.72% (0.69%) 0.65% (0.04%) | The Fund performed in line with
Energy UCITS ETF the index before costs.

Tracking Error

Tracking error is the annualised standard deviation of the difference in monthly returns between a Fund and its
benchmark index. Tracking error shows the consistency of the returns relative to the benchmark index over a defined
period of time.

One of the primary drivers of tracking error is the difference between fund holdings and index constituents. Cash
management and trading costs from rebalancing can also have an impact on tracking error as well as the return
differential between the Fund and the benchmark index. The impact can be either positive or negative depending on the
underlying circumstances.

The table below shows the annualised tracking error as at 31 July 2013:

Fund? Tracking Error Volatility Anticipated tracking

error volatility
iShares MSCI UK Large Cap UCITS ETF 0.009% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI UK Small Cap UCITS ETF 0.045% Up to 0.60%
iShares MSCI USA Large Cap UCITS ETF 0.011% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI USA Small Cap UCITS ETF 0.128% Up to 0.70%
iShares MSCI Japan Large Cap UCITS ETF* 0.139% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI Japan Small Cap UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.171% Up to 0.60%
iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF 0.145% Up to 0.80%
iShares USD Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.021% Up to 0.15%
iShares USD Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.062% Up to 0.30%
iShares USD Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.103% Up to 0.80%

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
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Investment Manager’s Report (continued)

Tracking Error (continued)

Tracking Error Volatility Anticipated tracking
Fund” error volatility
iShares Euro Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.023% Up to 0.10%
iShares Euro Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.040% Up to 0.15%
iShares Euro Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.054% Up t0 0.15%
iShares USD Inflation Linked Bond UCITS ETF 0.162% Up to 1.20%
iShares Euro Inflation Link Bond UCITS ETF 0.018% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI USA - B UCITS ETF 0.011% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI Japan - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.043% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.025% Up to 0.25%
iShares MSCI Pacific ex Japan UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.017% Up to 0.25%
iShares MSCI Canada - B UCITS ETF 0.010% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI UK UCITS ETF 0.006% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF 0.025% Up to 0.50%
iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.034% Up to 0.60%
iShares Dow Jones Industrial Average® UCITS ETF 0.020% Up to 0.15%
iShares NASDAQ 100 UCITS ETF 0.077% Up to 0.45%
iShares FTSE 100 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.009% Up to 0.10%
iShares FTSE MIB UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.078% Up to 0.80%
iShares Nikkei 225 UCITS ETF 0.242% Up to 2.00%
iShares S&P 500 - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.009% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI South Africa - B UCITS ETF 0.015% Up t0 0.15%
iShares MSCI EM Asia UCITS ETF 0.210% Up to 1.40%
iShares CSI 300 UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.013% Up to 0.30%
iShares MSCI EM EMEA UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.007% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI India UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.006% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI Korea UCITS ETF (Acc)* 0.218% Up to 0.15%
iShares MSCI Taiwan UCITS ETF (Swap)* 0.291% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI Australia - B UCITS ETF 0.034% Up to 0.20%
iShares MSCI EM Latin America UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.029% Up to 0.20%
iShares MSCI Mexico Capped UCITS ETF 0.041% Up to 0.10%
iShares MSCI Russia ADR/GDR UCITS ETF 0.667% Up to 4.00%
iShares MSCI Brazil UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.036% Up to 0.30%
iShares MSCI Chile UCITS ETF 0.047% Up to 0.45%
iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.002% Up to 0.05%
iShares MSCI World - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.074% Up to 0.35%
iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.003% Up to 0.05%
iShares Global Alternative Energy UCITS ETF 0.255% Up to 0.90%

A Please refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
* The Funds' tracking errors exceeded their anticipated tracking errors due to a single day's temporary divergence in the

calculation. The Index provider calculated an index value on 29 March 2013 (Good Friday), while the Funds did not. This
caused a heightened tracking error when calculated over the period.
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Investment Manager’s Report (continued)

PEA Eligibility (Plan d'Epargne en Actions)

The Plan d'Epargne en Actions ("PEA") is a French equity savings plan intended to encourage French tax resident
individuals to invest in European equities. Due to their eligibility to the PEA, the Funds listed below invest on a permanent
basis at least 75% of their assets in securities and rights eligible to the PEA, issued by companies established in a
Member State of the European Union or in Iceland and Norway and subject to corporate income, or an equivalent, tax. As

at 31 July 2013, the below Funds had the following percentages of its assets invested in eligible PEA assets.

Fund?

iShares MSCI UK Large Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI UK Small Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF
iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares MSCI UK UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF

iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares FTSE 100 UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares FTSE MIB UCITS ETF (Acc)

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.

Total Expense Ratio and Portfolio Turnover Rate

The Total Expense Ratio (“TER”) shown below expresses the sum of all costs charged to each Fund’s assets as a

percentage of the average Fund assets during the year.

The portfolio turnover rate (“PTR”) is an indication of the level of trading conducted by the Fund based on a twelve month

period ended 31 July 2013.

Fund”
iShares MSCI UK Large Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI UK Small Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI USA Large Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI USA Small Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI Japan Large Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI Japan Small Cap UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF

iShares USD Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares USD Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares USD Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares Euro Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares Euro Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares Euro Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares USD Inflation Linked Bond UCITS ETF
iShares Euro Inflation Link Bond UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI USA - B UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI Japan - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
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% of AuM PEA eligible

95.29%
85.11%
93.50%
82.85%
93.00%
98.19%
98.86%
93.75%

100.00%

TER

0.48%
0.58%
0.33%
0.43%
0.48%
0.58%
0.58%
0.23%
0.23%
0.23%
0.23%
0.23%
0.23%
0.28%
0.28%
0.33%
0.48%

Annualised
PTR

8.80%
28.33%
7.49%
19.07%
0.31%
44.70%
33.96%
136.22%
43.69%
89.36%
141.74%
108.11%
92.43%
40.45%
34.78%
6.73%
5.81%
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Investment Manager’s Report (continued)

Total Expense Ratio and Portfolio Turnover Rate (continued)

TER Annualised

Fund” PTR
iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.33% 7.38%
iShares MSCI Pacific ex Japan UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.48% 11.26%
iShares MSCI Canada - B UCITS ETF 0.48% 12.19%
iShares MSCI UK UCITS ETF 0.33% 7.43%
iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF 0.33% 7.60%
iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.20% 7.86%
iShares Dow Jones Industrial Average® UCITS ETF 0.33% 10.23%
iShares NASDAQ 100 UCITS ETF 0.33% 26.18%
iShares FTSE 100 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.33% 711%
iShares FTSE MIB UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.33% 14.30%
iShares Nikkei 225 UCITS ETF 0.48% 1.45%
iShares S&P 500 - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.20% 6.80%
iShares MSCI South Africa - B UCITS ETF 0.65% 2.03%
iShares MSCI EM Asia UCITS ETF 0.65% 8.12%
iShares CSI 300 UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.50% 2,844.49%
iShares MSCI EM EMEA UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.65% 3,088.44%
iShares MSCI India UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.75% 2,722.66%
iShares MSCI Korea UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.65% 0.43%
iShares MSCI Taiwan UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.65% 2,352.49%
iShares MSCI Australia - B UCITS ETF 0.50% 9.59%
iShares MSCI EM Latin America UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.65% 22.19%
iShares MSCI Mexico Capped UCITS ETF 0.65% 28.86%
iShares MSCI Russia ADR/GDR UCITS ETF 0.65% 14.57%
iShares MSCI Brazil UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.65% 23.65%
iShares MSCI Chile UCITS ETF 0.65% 20.94%
iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.14% 3,355.93%
iShares MSCI World - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.40% 2.84%
iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.14% 2,496.54%
iShares Global Alternative Energy UCITS ETF 0.65% 33.17%

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.

BlackRock Advisors (UK) Limited

Date: August 2013
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Directors’ Report
The Directors present their report and financial statements for the year from 1 August 2012 to 31 July 2013.
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Company’s financial statements, in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law, the Directors
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland,
comprising applicable law and the accounting standards issued by the Accounting Standards Board and promulgated by
Chartered Accountants in Ireland.

The Company’s financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
at 31 July 2013 and of the profit or loss for the year then ended.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:
e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
e make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirement in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper books of account that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Acts
1963 to 2012 and the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities)
Regulations, 2011 (as amended) (the “UCITS Regulations”). In this regard BNY Mellon Fund Services (Ireland) Limited
has been appointed for the purpose of maintaining proper books of accounts. Accordingly, the books of accounts are kept
at the following address: Guild House, Guild Street, IFSC, Dublin 1, Ireland. The Directors are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company. In this regard they have entrusted the assets of the Company and each Fund to
BNY Mellon Trust Company (Ireland) Limited (the “Custodian”) for safe-keeping. The address at which this business is
conducted is as follows: Guild House, Guild Street, IFSC, Dublin 1, Ireland. They have general responsibility for taking
such steps as are reasonably open to them to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, including the Annual Corporate Governance
Statement, that complies with the requirements of the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2012.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Business Review and Future Developments
The results for the year are set out on page 24. A review of the performance of the Company is contained in the
Investment Manager’s Report on pages 6 to 15.

Analysis of Key Performance Indicators
The analysis of the Company’s key performance indicators (“KPIs”) are contained in the Investment Manager’s Report on
pages 6 to 15.

Principal Activities

The Company is an open-ended investment company with variable capital organised under the laws of Ireland, and is
structured as an umbrella investment company with segregated liability between its sub-funds (“the Funds”). The
Company is authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland (“the Central Bank”) as an Undertaking for Collective Investment in
Transferable Securities (“UCITS”) pursuant to the UCITS Regulations.

All Funds in the Company are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, the Borsa Italiana, the Deutsche Boerse, the NYSE
Euronext Paris and the London Stock Exchange. As at 31 July 2013, all Funds in the Company were registered in Austria,
Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, ltaly, the Netherlands, Norway, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the United
Kingdom.

Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Company’s investment activities expose it to various types of risk, which are associated with the financial instruments
and markets in which it invests. A detailed analysis of the principal risks facing each Fund are included in Note 15 of the
financial statements and in the Company’s Prospectus.

Significant Events During the Year
The significant events which occurred during the year are set out in Note 17 of the financial statements.

Subsequent Events
The significant events which have occurred since the balance sheet date are set out in Note 21 of the financial
statements.

Directors’ and Secretary’s Interests

The Directors and Secretary who held office at 31 July 2013 had no interests in the shares of the Company at that date or
at any time during the year and their families had no interests in the shares of the Company at 31 July 2013 or at any time
during the year (none for the year ended 31 July 2012). Details for the Directors are set out in Note 12 of the financial
statements.

Transactions involving Directors

The Board of Directors are not aware of any contracts or arrangements of any significance in relation to the business of
the Company in which the Directors had any interest as defined in the Companies Act, 1990, at any time during the year
ended 31 July 2013, other than those disclosed in Note 12 of the financial statements.

Segregated Liability of Funds
The Company is an umbrella fund with segregated liability between the Funds.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Books of Account

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper books and accounting records, as outlined in Section 202 of the
Companies Act, 1990, are kept by the Company. To achieve this, the Directors have appointed BNY Mellon Fund
Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Administrator”) for the purposes of maintaining proper books of account. The books and
accounting records are maintained at the office of the Administrator at Guild House, Guild Street, IFSC, Dublin 1, Ireland.

Distributions to Shareholders

Under the Articles of Association, the Directors are entitled to declare such dividends on any class of shares at such
times as they think appropriate and as appear to be justified out of the profits of the relevant Fund, being (i) the net
income (being the accumulated revenue consisting of all revenue accrued including interest and dividends, less
expenses) and/or (ii) realised and unrealised capital gains on the disposal/valuation of investments less realised and
unrealised capital losses of the Fund.

Distributions payable to shareholders are classified as finance costs in the Profit and Loss Account. There were no
distributions paid or declared during the year (year ended 31 July 2012: nil).

All Funds have UK Reporting Fund status.

Independent Auditor

The auditor, KPMG, have indicated their willingness to remain in office until 25 November 2013, in accordance with
section 160(2) of the Companies Act, 1963. Following a recommendation from the Audit Committee, the Board are
proposing that PricewaterhouseCoopers be appointed as Auditors at the next Annual General Meeting.

Corporate Governance Statement

The Board of iShares VII plc (the “Company”) is committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance
and is accountable to its shareholder for the governance of the Company’s affairs. The Board has put in place a
framework for corporate governance which it believes is appropriate for an open ended investment company and which
enables the Company to comply with the provisions of the Irish Funds Industry Association Corporate Governance Code
for Collective Investment Schemes and Management Companies (Dec 2011) (the “IFIA Code”). The Irish Funds Industry
Association published the IFIA Code in December 2011 and whilst the Code is voluntary in nature, the IFIA recommended
its adoption by Irish authorised collective investment schemes.

The Company has voluntarily adopted the Code, post the period under review on the 30 September 2013 and will apply
the Code to the Company for all subsequent accounting periods. The Company refers to this Code for the period under
review. The IFIA Code can be obtained from the IFIA website at http://www.irishfunds.ie/media-centre/news-archive/67-
corporate-governance-code-and-fags/. The IFIA Code became effective from 1 January 2012 with a twelve month
transitional period until 1 January 2013. It should be noted that the IFIA Code reflects the existing corporate governance
policies imposed on Irish authorised collective investment schemes.

The Board considers that the Company has complied with each of the provisions contained within the IFIA Code
throughout this accounting period

The Company is also subject to corporate governance practices imposed by:

(i) The Companies Acts, 1963 to 2012 which are available for inspection at the registered office of the
Company and may also be obtained at http://www.irishstatutebook.ie/home.html;
(i) The Articles of Association of the Company which are available for inspection at the registered office of the

Company; and

(iii) The Central Bank in their UCITS Notices and Guidance Notes which can be obtained from the Central
Bank’s website at:- http://www.centralbank.ie and are available for inspection at the registered office of the
Company.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

The Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control and risk management systems of
the Company in relation to the financial reporting process. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve the Company’s financial reporting objectives. The Company has procedures in place to
ensure all relevant accounting records are properly maintained and are readily available, including production of annual
and half-yearly financial statements. These procedures include appointing the Administrator to maintain the accounting
records of the Company independently of the Investment Manager and the Custodian. The annual and half-yearly
financial statements of the Company are required to be approved by the Board of Directors of the Company and filed with
the Central Bank. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with applicable Irish law and Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice in Ireland. The accounting information given in the annual report is required to be audited. The
Auditor’s report, including any qualifications, is reproduced in full in the annual report of the Company.

Shareholders’ meetings are governed by the Articles of Association of the Company and the Irish Companies Acts.
Although the Directors may convene an extraordinary general meeting of the Company at any time, the Directors are
required to convene an annual general meeting of the Company within fifteen months of the date of the previous annual
general meeting. Shareholders representing not less than one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the Company may also
request the Directors to convene a shareholders’ meeting. Not less than twenty one day’s notice of every AGM and any
meeting convened for the passing of a special resolution must be given to shareholders and fourteen days’ notice must be
given in the case of any other general meeting unless the Auditors of the Company and all the shareholders of the
Company entitled to attend and vote agree to shorter notice.

Two members present either in person or by proxy constitute a quorum at a general meeting provided that the quorum for
a general meeting convened to consider any alteration to the class rights of shares is two shareholders holding or
representing by proxy at least one third of the issued shares of the relevant Fund or class. Every holder of shares present
in person or by proxy who votes on a show of hands is entitled to one vote. On a poll, every holder of shares present in
person or by proxy is entitled to one vote in respect of each share held by him. The chairman of a general meeting of the
Company or at least two members present in person or by proxy or any holder or holders of shares present in person or
by proxy representing at least one tenth of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having the right to vote at such
meeting may demand a poll.

As a consequence of the acquisition by BlackRock, Inc of the Irish, Luxembourg and Swiss Exchange-Traded Funds
business of Credit Suisse AG on 1 July 2013, the board of the Company changed substantially. Effective 1 July 2013, Mr
John Donohoe, Mr Barry McGrath, Mr Luca Diener and Mr Dan Draper resigned as directors of the Company and Mr Paul
McNaughton was appointed as Chairman of the Company and Mr Paul McGowan, Ms Cora O'Donohoe, Ms Karen Prooth
and Mr Barry O'Dwyer were appointed as non-executive directors of the Company.

The business of the Company is managed by the Directors, who meet once a month. The Directors delegate certain
functions to BlackRock Fund Management Company (Ireland) Limited (the “Manager”) and the Custodian. In turn the
Manager appoints the Administrator (to whom certain administration functions are delegated) and the Investment
Manager (to whom principal distribution and investment management functions are delegated). A Director may, and the
Company Secretary of the Company on the requisition of a Director will, at any time summon a meeting of the Directors.
Questions arising at any meeting of the Directors are determined by a majority of votes. In the case of an equality of
votes, the chairman has a second or casting vote. The quorum necessary for the transaction of business at a meeting of
the Directors is two Directors.

Effective 1 July 2013, the Board established a Nominations Committee comprising a majority of independent Directors
and appointed Mr Paul McNaughton as the independent Chairman. This Committee is responsible for reviewing the
composition of the Board and Board Committees to ensure they are properly constituted and balanced in terms of skills,
experience and diversity. The Nominations Committee did not meet during the period under review.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
Corporate Governance Statement (continued)
Also effective 1 July 2013, the Board established an Audit Committee comprising two independent Directors including the
Chairman. Mr Paul McGowan was appointed independent Chairman of the Audit Committee.

In early 2014, BlackRock Asset Management Ireland Limited will take over the position of manager of the Company from
BlackRock Fund Management Company (Ireland) Limited.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

—_— e

Director Director

Date: 22 November 2013
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Custodian’s Report to the Shareholders

We have enquired into the conduct of iShares VIl plc (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 July 2013, in our
capacity as Custodian to the Company.

This report including the opinion has been prepared for and solely for the shareholders in the Company, in
accordance with the Central Bank of Ireland’s UCITS Notice 4, and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this
opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is
shown.

Responsibilities of the Custodian

Our duties and responsibilities are outlined in the Central Bank of Ireland’s UCITS Notice 4. One of those duties
is to enquire into the conduct of the Company in each annual accounting period and report thereon to the
shareholders.

Our report shall state whether, in our opinion, the Company has been managed in that period in accordance with
the provisions of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the European Communities
(Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011 (the “Regulations”). It is the
overall responsibility of the Company to comply with these provisions. If the Company has not so complied, we as
Custodian must state why this is the case and outline the steps which we have taken to rectify the situation.

Basis of Custodian Opinion

The Custodian conducts such reviews as it, in its reasonable opinion, considers necessary in order to comply
with its duties as outlined in UCITS Notice 4 and to ensure that, in all material respects, the Company has been
managed (i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on its investment and borrowing powers by the provisions
of its constitutional documentation and the appropriate regulations and (i) otherwise in accordance with the
Company'’s constitutional documentation and the appropriate regulations.

Opinion
In our opinion, the Company has been managed during the year, in all material respects:

(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the Company by the
Memorandum & Articles of Association and by the UCITS Regulations 2011 (as amended); and

(i) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the Memorandum & Articles of Association and the
Regulations.
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BNY Mellon Trust Company (Ireland) Limited
Guild House
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International Financial Services Centre
Dublin 1
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iShares VIl plc
Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 July 2013

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of iShares VIl plc (the “Company”)

We have audited the financial statements of iShares VIl plc (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 July 2013 which
comprises the Profit and Loss Account, Balance Sheet and Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of
Redeemable Participating Shares, with the related notes and Schedule of Investments. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is Irish law and accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council
and promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accounts in Ireland (Generally accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland).

This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with section 193 of the Companies
Act, 1990 and the European Communites (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations
2011. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s shareholders as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilities set out on page 16 the Directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements giving a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion
on the financial statements in accordance with Irish law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those
standards require us to comply with the Ethical Standards for Auditors issued by the Auditing Practice Board.

Scope of the audit of the Financial Statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or
error. This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances
and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by the Directors; and, the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read the English language
version of the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the
audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider
the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

¢ the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in
Ireland, of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 July 2013 and of its changes in net assets attributable to
holders of redeemable participating shares for the year then ended; and

e the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2012 and

the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations,
2011.

Matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Act, 1963 to 2012
We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion, the financial statements are in agreement with the books of account and, in our opinion proper books of
account have been kept by the Company.

In our opinion, the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of iShares VIl plc (the “Company”) (continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the provision in the Companies Act 1963 to 2012, which require us to report to you
if, in our opinion, the disclosure of Directors’ remuneration and transactions specified by law are not made.

%Q/%MV\%——

Darina Barrett

For and on behalf of

KPMG

Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm
1 Harbourmaster Place

International Financial Services Centre
Dublin 1

Ireland

Date: 22 November 2013
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Profit and Loss Account

For the year ended 31 July 2013

Income

Operating income

Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Total investment income/(expense)

Expenses
Management expenses
Administration expenses

Total operating expenses

Profit/(loss) for the financial year before tax

Withholding tax

Change in net assets attributable to holders
of redeemable participating shares from operations

On behalf of the Board

&Pf/// /o»/7

Director

Director

Date: 22 November 2013

Notes

2(c), 3

2(d), 4

2(f), 12
2(f), 12

Year Ended Year Ended
31-July-2013 31-July-2012
EUR EUR
132,623,124 117,124,663
831,566,488 (304,002,034)
964,189,612 (186,877,371)
(13,550,936) (11,285,186)
(6,544,731) (5,561,616)
(20,095,667) (16,846,802)
944,093,945 (203,724,173)
(16,600,378) (13,733,990)
927,493,567 (217,458,163)

All amounts arose solely from continuing operations. There were no recognised gains or losses in the year other than

those dealt with in the Profit and Loss Account.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 July 2013

Notes
Assets
Cash at bank 2(9), 7
Due from broker 7
Transferable securities 2(a), 8
Financial derivative instruments 2(a), 8
Capital shares receivable
Securities sold receivable
Dividends receivable
Interest receivable
Securities lending income receivable
Total assets
Liabilities
Due to broker 7
Financial derivative instruments 2(a), 8

Securities purchased payable

Accrued expenses 9,12
Capital shares payable

Total liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to

holders of redeemable participating shares)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable
participating shares

On behalf of the /amrd

Director

Director

Date: 22 November 2013

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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As at As at
31-July-2013 31-July-2012
EUR EUR
23,757,893 18,748,064
9,946,332 7,435,758
5,207,826,937 4,893,689,424
722,220 1,601,728
30,193,089 176,523,103
165,159,766 60,124,102
4,490,597 4,285,865
4,103,131 5,209,579
95,956 135,462
5,446,295,921 5,167,753,085
(2,443,242) (3,425,498)
(1,248,484) (137,018)
(43,235,844) (205,680,653)
(1,769,875) (1,537,037)
(167,306,593) (27,879,305)
(216,004,038) (238,659,511)
5,230,291,883 4,929,093,574
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating
Shares
For the year ended 31 July 2013

Year Ended Year Ended
31-July-2013 31-July-2012
Notes EUR EUR
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable
participating shares at beginning of year 4,929,093,574 4,756,557,575
Proceeds from redeemable participating shares issued 2,106,864,176 2,160,114,009
Cost of redeemable participating shares redeemed (2,276,855,285) (2,267,647,350)
Change in net assets attributable to holders of
redeemable participating shares from operations 927,493,567 (217,458,163)
Currency adjustment 2 (i) (456,304,149) 497,527,503
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable
participating shares at end of year 5,230,291,883 4,929,093,574

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Organisation

The Company is an open-ended investment company with segregated liability between its Funds and with variable capital.
The Company was incorporated on 9 April 2009 and is authorised in Ireland with limited liability under registration number
469617. It is organised as a public limited company.

The Company has been authorised by the Central Bank on 26 May 2009 as an Undertaking for Collective Investment in
Transferable Securities (“UCITS”) pursuant to the European Communities Undertaking for Collective Investment in
Transferable Securities Regulations 2011 (as amended) (the “UCITS Regulations”).

The Company is structured as an umbrella investment company, in that different Funds may be established from time to
time by the Directors with the prior approval of the Central Bank. The particulars of each Fund will be set out in the section
of the Prospectus entitled “Fund Descriptions”. Shares of more than one class may be issued in relation to a Fund.
Information contained within the above named section is selective and should be read in conjunction with the Prospectus.
A separate portfolio of assets shall be maintained for each Fund and shall be invested in accordance with the investment
objective applicable to such Fund.

Following sale to Blackrock Inc., the Company’s name was changed to from CS ETF (IE) plc to iShares VII plc, effective 1
July 2013.

All Funds in the Company are listed on the SIX Swiss exchange, the Borsa ltaliana, the Deutsche Boerse, the NYSE
Euronext Paris and the London Stock Exchange. On 31 July 2013, all of the Funds were registered for sale in Austria,
Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the United

Kingdom.
At 31 July 2013, the Company consisted of 46 active Funds as follows:

Fund? Share Class Functional Launch Date
Currency
iShares MSCI UK Large Cap UCITS ETF GBP Class "B" GBP 02 June 2009
iShares MSCI UK Small Cap UCITS ETF GBP Class "B" GBP 01 July 2009
iShares MSCI USA Large Cap UCITS ETF USD Class "B" usD 02 June 2009
iShares MSCI USA Small Cap UCITS ETF USD Class "B" usD 01 July 2009
iShares MSCI Japan Large Cap UCITS ETF JPY Class "B" JPY 02 June 2009
iShares MSCI Japan Small Cap UCITS ETF (Acc) JPY Class "B" JPY 01 July 2009
iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF EUR Class "B" EUR 01 July 2009
iShares USD Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) USD Class "B" uUsD 03 June 2009
iShares USD Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) USD Class "B" usD 03 June 2009
iShares USD Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) USD Class "B" usb 03 June 2009
iShares Euro Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR Class "B" EUR 02 June 2009
iShares Euro Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR Class "B" EUR 02 June 2009
iShares Euro Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR Class "B" EUR 02 June 2009
iShares USD Inflation Linked Bond UCITS ETF USD Class "B" usD 03 June 2009
iShares Euro Inflation Link Bond UCITS ETF EUR Class "B" EUR 02 June 2009
iShares MSCI USA - B UCITS ETF USD Class “B” usbD 12 January 2010
iShares MSCI Japan - B UCITS ETF (Acc) JPY Class "B" JPY 12 January 2010
iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR Class "B" EUR 12 January 2010
iShares MSCI Pacific ex Japan UCITS ETF (Acc) USD Class “B” usb 12 January 2010
iShares MSCI Canada - B UCITS ETF CAD Class “B” CAD 12 January 2010

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

1. Organisation (continued)

Fund? Share Class Functional Launch Date
Currency
iShares MSCI UK UCITS ETF GBP Class “B” GBP 12 January 2010
iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF EUR Class "B" EUR 12 January 2010
iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR Class "B" EUR 26 January 2010
iShares Dow Jones Industrial Average®™ UCITS ETF USD Class “B” usD 26 January 2010
iShares NASDAQ 100 UCITS ETF USD Class “B” uUsD 26 January 2010
iShares FTSE 100 UCITS ETF (Acc) GBP Class "B" GBP 26 January 2010
iShares FTSE MIB UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR Class "B" EUR 26 January 2010
iShares Nikkei 225 UCITS ETF JPY Class "B" JPY 26 January 2010
iShares S&P 500 - B UCITS ETF (Acc) USD Class “B” uUsD 18 May 2010
iShares MSCI South Africa - B UCITS ETF USD Class “B” usD 22 July 2010
iShares MSCI EM Asia UCITS ETF USD Class “B” usD 06 August 2010
iShares CSI 300 UCITS ETF (Swap) USD Class “B” uUsD 20 August 2010
iShares MSCI EM EMEA UCITS ETF (Swap) USD Class “B” USD 24 August 2010
iShares MSCI India UCITS ETF (Swap) USD Class “B” uUsD 24 August 2010
iShares MSCI Korea UCITS ETF (Acc) USD Class “B” usD 24 August 2010
iShares MSCI Taiwan UCITS ETF (Swap) USD Class “B” USD 24 August 2010
iShares MSCI Australia - B UCITS ETF USD Class “B” uUsD 24 August 2010
iShares MSCI EM Latin America UCITS ETF (Acc) USD Class “B” usD 25 August 2010
iShares MSCI Mexico Capped UCITS ETF USD Class “B” usb 25 August 2010
iShares MSCI Russia ADR/GDR UCITS ETF USD Class “B” uUsD 25 August 2010
iShares MSCI Brazil UCITS ETF (Acc) USD Class “B” uUshD 25 August 2010
iShares MSCI Chile UCITS ETF USD Class “B” uUsD 25 August 2010
iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap) EUR Class “B” EUR 24 January 2011
iShares MSCI World - B UCITS ETF (Acc) USD Class “B” uUsD 28 January 2011
iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap) USD Class “B” UsD 31 January 2011
iShares Global Alternative Energy UCITS ETF USD Class “B” usD 1 February 2011

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with those accounting standards and Irish statute comprising
the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2012 and the provisions of the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective
Investment in Transferrable Securities) Regulations, 2011 (as amended) (the “UCITS Regulations”).

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss and comply with Financial Reporting
Standards of the Accounting Standards Board, as promulgated by Chartered Accountants in Ireland (“Irish GAAP”).

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that may
affect the amounts reported in the Financial Statements and accompanying notes.

The Company has availed of the exemption available to open-ended investment funds under FRS 1 (revised) and is not
preparing a cash flow statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Basis of Presentation (continued)

The information required by Financial Reporting Standard (“FRS”) 3, "Reporting Financial Performance”, to be included in
a statement of total recognised gains and losses and reconciliation of movements in shareholders' funds, is, in the opinion
of the Directors, contained in the Profit and Loss Account on page 24 and the Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares on page 26.

All reference to net assets throughout this document refers to Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable
Participating Shares unless otherwise stated.

The significant accounting policies adopted by the Company are as follows:
a) Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
Valuation of Investments at Fair Value

Classification

The Company classifies its investments in investment securities and related derivatives as financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset or financial liability at fair value through profit or loss can
either be classified as held-for-trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. The
following financial investments are classified as held-for-trading: common stock, government bonds, corporate bonds,
preferred stocks, warrants, rights, future contracts and total return swaps.

Recognition/Derecognition

Purchases and sales of investments are accounted for on the trade date being the date on which the Company commits
to purchase or sell the investment. Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or all risks and rewards of ownership have all been substantially transferred. From trade date,
any gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities are recorded in the
Profit and Loss Account.

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

Measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent
to initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value
with changes in their fair value recognised in the Profit and Loss Account. Assets and long positions are measured at a
bid price; liabilities and short positions are measured at an ask price.

Future Contracts
A future contract is a contract traded on an exchange, to buy or sell a certain underlying instrument at a certain date in the
future, at a specified price.

Initial margin deposits are made to the relevant brokers upon entering into future contracts and are generally made in
margin cash. The cash balances held as margin at the reporting date are included in “Due to/from broker” in the Balance
Sheet. The changes in value of open future contracts are recognised as unrealised gains or losses by marking-to-market
the value of the contract at the Balance Sheet date. Changes in the future contracts' value are settled daily with the
exchange, by paying or receiving a variation margin amount. When the contract is closed, the difference between the
proceeds from (or cost of) the closing transactions and the original transaction is recorded as a realised gain or loss in the
Profit and Loss Account.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Total Return Swaps

A total return swap is a financial contract whereby one party agrees to pay another party the total return of a defined asset
in return for receiving a floating rate return. The agreements involve each Fund transferring to the counterparties to the
swap agreements, the investment return of the securities owned by the Fund (the “substitute basket”) in exchange for
investment returns from the counterparties which reflect the performance of the relevant Fund’s benchmark index, net of a
swap spread. Total return swaps are marked-to-market using a valuation model and the fair value is recorded on the
Balance Sheet. The change in unrealised gains and losses is shown in “Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” in the Profit and Loss Account. Total return swaps on all Funds are over-the-
counter (“OTC”) derivatives.

b) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Irish GAAP requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting
policies. The estimates and associated judgements are based on historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

Management makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the actual results.

Changes in data inputs and assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair values of financial instruments
and differences could be material.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements relate to the valuation of investments.
c) Operating Income

Dividend income and dividend expense are recorded on the ex-dividend date. Dividend income is recognised on a gross
basis, before withholding tax. Interest income and interest expense are accrued over the life of the investment. Interest
income is calculated on an effective yield basis, gross of withholding tax, if any.

Securities lending income is earned from lending securities owned by the Funds to a number of third party borrowers.
Securities lending income is accounted for on an accruals basis.

d) Net Gain/(Loss) on Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit and Loss

Net gain/(loss) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss includes all realised gains/losses, on futures
and swaps commissions, unrealised gains/losses from fair value changes and foreign exchange differences. Realised
gains and losses are based on the average cost method for the majority of Funds, with FIFO applicable on six Funds i.e
iShares USD Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc), iShares USD Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc), iShares
USD Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc), iShares Euro Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc), iShares Euro
Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) and iShares Euro Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc).

Transaction costs for purchases and sales of equities are included in the net gain/(loss) on investments in the Profit and
Loss Account for each Fund.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
e) Primary Market Transaction Cost

Holders of redeemable participating shares have been required to pay Primary Market Transaction Costs (“PMTC”)
determined from time to time by the Manager. PMTC payments from authorised participants are used to defray the cost
related to the associated purchase or sale of securities as a direct result of shareholder transactions. PMTC are included
in the proceeds from redeemable participating shares issued and the cost of redeemable participating shares redeemed,
respectively in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares.

f) Expenses Recognition
All expenses are recognised in the Profit and Loss Account on an accruals basis.
g) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents including deposits held on call with banks and other short term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less are valued at its face value plus any accrued interest, where applicable. Bank
overdrafts are classified as liabilities.

h) Redeemable Participating Shares

Redeemable participating shares are redeemable at the shareholder’s option and are classified as financial liabilities. The
dividend, if any, on these redeemable participating shares is recognised in the Profit and Loss Account as finance costs. A
share can be redeemed at any time for cash equal to a proportionate share of the relevant Fund’'s net asset value. A
share is carried at the redemption amount that is payable at the Balance Sheet date if the holder exercised its right to put
the share back to the Fund.

i) Foreign Currencies

(i) Functional currency
The Company’s financial statements are presented in Euro (EUR), which is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates (its functional currency).

However, the Company operates a number of Funds, each with a separately determined functional currency as stated on
pages 27 and 28.

Transactions of a Fund that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Fund
at the exchange rate ruling on the date of the transaction. The fair value of the investments and other monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in currencies other than a Fund’s functional currency have been translated to that functional
currency at the relevant rates of exchange ruling at the reporting period end date.

(ii) Currency adjustment
For the purpose of presenting the financial statements of the overall Company (as required under Irish Law), the amount
in each Funds functional currency financial statements are retranslated as follows:

e Each Fund’s Balance Sheet is translated to Euro at the exchange rate ruling at the reporting period end date; and

e Each Fund’s Profit and Loss Account, proceeds from redeemable participating shares issued and amount paid on
redeemable participating shares, are translated at the average rates where those rates represent a reasonable
approximation to actual rates.

The above translation method results in a foreign currency translation reserve. This adjustment has no impact on the net
asset value of the individual Funds for redemption purposes.

31



iShares VIl plc
Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 July 2013
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
j) Segment Reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to
risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. The Company’s segments are based on the
nature of the products provided and are considered to be each of the Funds listed on pages 27 and 28.
k) Distributions to Shareholders
Under the Articles of Association, the Directors are entitled to declare such dividends on any class of Shares at such
times as they think appropriate and as appear to be justified out of the profits of the relevant Fund, being; (i) the net
income (being the accumulated revenue consisting of all revenue accrued including interest and dividends less expenses)
and/or (ii) realised and unrealised capital gains on the disposal/valuation of investments less realised and unrealised
capital losses of the Fund.
Distributions payable to shareholders are classified as finance costs in the Profit and Loss Account.

1) Securities Lending Income

Securities lending income is earned from lending securities owned by the Company to a number of borrowers. Securities
lending income is accounted for on an accrual basis

m) Receivables

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less provision for impairment.

n) Payables

Payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost. The difference between
proceeds and the amount payable is recognised over the period of the payable using the effective interest method.

o) Transactions awaiting settlement

Transactions awaiting settlement represents receivables or payables for investments sold/bought during the year that
have been contracted for but not yet settled or delivered on the balance sheet date.

3. Operating Income

Year Ended Year Ended

31-July-2013 31-July-2012

EUR EUR

Securities lending income 1,998,624 2,096,603
Interest income 7,344,330 9,508,582
Dividend income 123,280,170 105,519,478
132,623,124 117,124,663
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4. Net Gain/(Loss) on Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

31-July-2013 31-July-2012
EUR EUR
Net realised gain/(loss) on common stock 191,276,682 (316,060,199)
Net realised loss on corporate bond - (16,430)
Net realised (loss)/gain on foreign currencies (529,232) 893,855
Net realised gain on future contracts 5,800,606 69,683
Net realised gain/(loss) on government bond 14,845,857 (221,252)
Net realised loss on preferred stock (2,782,192) (651,968)
Net realised loss on rights (138,493) (136,102)
Net realised loss on total return swaps (43,525,204) (1,019,439)
Net realised gain on warrants 407,014 21,406
Net realised gain/(loss) 165,355,038 (317,120,446)
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on common stock 676,215,390 (1,579,702)
Net change in unrealised (loss)/gain on foreign currencies (11,167) 5,765
Net change in unrealised (loss)/gain on future contracts (5,022) 846,489
Net change in unrealised (loss)/gain on government bond (11,177,292) 17,149,970
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on preferred stock 3,050,252 (5,153,536)
Net change in unrealised gain on rights 17,390 5,470
Net change in unrealised (loss)/gain on total return swaps (1,895,153) 1,852,299
Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on warrants 17,052 (8,343)
Net change in unrealised gain 666,211,450 13,118,412
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 831,566,488 (304,002,034)

The realised gain/(loss) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss represents the difference between the
transaction price and its sale/settlement price. The unrealised gain/(loss) represents the difference between the
transaction price, or carrying amount of a financial instrument at the beginning of the year, and its carrying amount at the

end of the year.

Net realised gain/(loss) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are net of the Primary Market
Transaction Charge (“PMTC”) paid to Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited for the swap-based Funds and net of
futures commissions paid to Credit Suisse AG for Funds which hold futures. PMTC are further described in Note 2 (e),

Note 5 and Note 12.
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5. Primary Market Transaction Costs (“PMTC”)

The PMTC is the fee amount payable in connection with a subscription or redemption (including as a result of an
exchange from one Class to another Class of the same or a separate Fund) in addition to the value of the Shares
subscribed for, or deducted from, the value of the Shares redeemed, to cover any market spreads (the difference between
the prices at which assets are valued and/or bought or sold (e.g. market spreads, foreign exchange slippage, equity
slippage), anti-dilution levies, duties and changes and other dealing costs (including Transfer Taxes) relating to the
acquisition or disposal of Fund Assets in connection with such subscription, redemption or exchange. Slippage can be
negative (resulting in a cost for the subscribing or redeeming Shareholder) or positive (resulting in a gain for the
subscribing or redeeming Shareholder); positive slippage reduces the total PMTC and can lead to positive total PMTC
which may be credited to the Shareholder subscribing or redeeming Shares.

6. Taxation

The Company is an investment undertaking as defined in Section 739B of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997. The
Company will not be liable to tax in respect of its income and gains, other than on the occurrence of a chargeable event.
Generally a chargeable event arises on any distribution, redemption, repurchase, cancellations; transfer of shares or on
the ending of a “Relevant Period”. A “Relevant Period” being an eight year period beginning with the acquisition of the
shares by the shareholder and each subsequent period of eight years beginning immediately after the preceding Relevant
Period.

In the absence of an appropriate declaration, the Company will be liable to Irish tax on the occurrence of a chargeable
event. There were no chargeable events during the year under review. Capital gains, dividends and interest received may
be subject to withholding taxes imposed by the country of origin and such taxes may not be recoverable by the Company
or its shareholders.

7. Cash at bank and Due from/to Broker
Due from brokers consists primarily of cash collateral receivable from the Company’s clearing brokers and various
counterparties. Due to brokers primarily consists of futures margin cash payable to the Company’s futures clearing

merchant and swap counterparties.

The total cash balances, held with the custodian and brokers as at 31 July 2013 and as at 31 July 2012 were as follows:

As at As at
31-July-2013 31-July-2012
Counterparty EUR EUR
Cash at bank

BNY Mellon Trust Company (Ireland) Limited a 23,757,893 18,748,064
23,757,893 18,748,064

Due from broker
Credit Suisse AG b 9,870,262 7,141,131
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited c 76,070 294,627
9,946,332 7,435,758
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7. Cash at bank and Due from/to Broker (continued)

Counterparty
Due to broker
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited

As at As at
31-July-2013 31-July-2012
EUR EUR
(2,443,242) (3,425,498)
(2,443,242) (3,425,498)

a) Cash is held with the global sub-custodian, BNY Mellon Brussels SA/NV (Belgian bank), on behalf of the Custodian,

BNY Mellon Trust Company (Ireland) Limited.
b) Future Margin account.
c¢) Swap Margin account.

8. Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
held for trading

Transferable securities - common stock

Unrealised gain on future contracts

Transferable securities - government bonds

Transferable securities - preferred stock

Transferable securities - rights

Unrealised gain on total return swaps

Transferable securities - warrants

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
held for trading

Unrealised loss on future contracts

Unrealised loss on total return swaps

As at
31-July-2013
EUR

4,778,382,071
722,220
394,586,249
34,813,398
22,790

22,429

As at
31-July-2012
EUR

4,315,429,535
779,411
520,536,948
57,712,054
5,509

822,317
5,378

5,208,549,157

4,895,291,152

- (7,502)
(1,248,484) (129,516)
Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (1,248,484) (137,018)
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FRS 29 requires the Company to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of inputs used in making the measurements.

The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

. Level 1: Quoted prices (observable) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

. Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices);

. Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that is not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that
measurement is a Level 3 measurement.

Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement,
considering factors specific to the asset or liability.

The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires significant judgement by the Investment Manager. The
Investment Manager considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or
updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the
relevant market.

The following table shows the fair value hierarchy of financial assets recognised at fair value as at 31 July 2013 :

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

EUR EUR EUR EUR

Transferable securities - common stock 4,778,382,071 - — 4,778,382,071
Unrealised gain on future contracts 722,220 - - 722,220
Transferable securities - government bonds 394,586,249 - — 394,586,249
Transferable securities - preferred stock 34,813,398 - - 34,813,398
Transferable securities - rights - 22,790 - 22,790
Transferable securities - warrants — 22,429 — 22,429
5,208,503,938 45,219 — 5,208,549,157

The following table shows the fair value hierarchy of financial liabilities recognised at fair value as at 31 July 2013 :

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

EUR EUR EUR EUR

Unrealised loss on total return swaps - (1,248,484) - (1,248,484)
- (1,248,484) - (1,248,484)
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8. Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued)

The following table shows a reconciliation of movements in the fair value of financial assets categorised within Level 3

between the beginning and the end of the reporting year ended 31 July 2013.

Opening
Balance Transfers Transfers
1-August- into out of
2012 Acquisitions Disposals Level 3 Level 3
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
Financial assets at fair
value through profit or
loss
held for trading
Transferable securities
Common stock 272 - - - -

Total

(loss)in

Total gain/(loss) the year
on financial assets Closing for assets
at fair value Balance held at
through profit 31-July- 31-July-

or loss 2013 2013

EUR EUR EUR

(272) - -

The following table shows the fair value hierarchy of financial assets recognised at fair value as at 31 July 2012:

Level 1 Level 2

EUR EUR

Transferable securities - common stock 4,294,163,949 21,265,314
Unrealised gain on future contracts 779,411 -
Transferable securities - government bonds 520,536,948 -
Transferable securities - preferred stock 57,712,054 -
Unrealised gain on total return swaps - 822,317
Transferable securities - rights - 5,509
Transferable securities - warrants - 5,378

Level 3 Total
EUR EUR
272 4,315,429,535

- 779,411
520,536,948
- 57,712,054
- 822,317
- 5,509
- 5,378

4,873,192,362 22,098,518

272  4,895,291,152

The following table shows the fair value hierarchy of financial liabilities recognised at fair value as at 31 July 2012:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

EUR EUR EUR EUR

Unrealised loss on future contracts (7,502) - - (7,502)
Unrealised loss on total return swaps - (129,516) - (129,516)
(7,502) (129,516) - (137,018)

During the year there were no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy for financial

assets which were recorded at fair value.

37



iShares VIl plc

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 July 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

8. Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued)

The following table shows a reconciliation of movements in the fair value of financial assets categorised within Level 3
between the beginning and the end of the reporting year ended 31 July 2012.

Opening

Balance

1-August-
2011 Acquisitions Disposals
EUR EUR EUR

Financial assets at fair
value through profit or
loss

held for trading

Transferable securities
Common stock - - -

Transfers

into
Level 3
EUR

198,662

Transfers
out of
Level 3

EUR

Total gain/(loss)
on financial assets
at fair value
through profit

or loss

EUR

(198,390)

Total

gain/(loss)

in the

period

Closing for assets
Balance held at
31-July- 31-July-
2012 2012
EUR EUR

272 (198,390)

Level 3 investments comprised one security held in iShares MSCI Canada- B UCITS ETF (formerly CS ETF (IE) on MSCI
Canada) which was reclassified during the year as a result of suspended trading. No sensitivity analysis was performed

as the amount was deemed immaterial.

9. Accrued Expenses

Management expenses
Administration expenses

10. Share Capital

As at As at
31-July-2013 31-July-2012
EUR EUR
(1,196,266) (1,024,841)
(573,609) (512,196)
(1,769,875) (1,537,037)

The Company was incorporated and registered in Ireland as an investment company with variable capital on 9 April 2009
with registered number 469617. The authorised share capital of the Company is 2 subscriber shares (“subscriber shares”)
of €1 each and 1,000,000,000,000 shares of no par value initially designated as unclassified shares and available for
issue as Shares. The issue share capital of the Company is represented by 2 subscriber shares issued for the purpose of

incorporation of the Company at an issue price of €1.

There are no rights of pre-emption attaching to the Shares.

11. Financial Derivative Instruments

The Company may, on behalf of each Fund and subject to the conditions and within the limits laid down by the Central
Bank of Ireland, the UCITS Regulations, the Prospectus and the introduction of the European Securities and Markets
Authority (“ESMA”) guidelines, employ techniques and instruments relating to transferable securities for efficient portfolio

management purposes.
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Transactions for the purposes of efficient portfolio management may be undertaken with a view to achieving a reduction in
risk, a reduction in costs or an increase in capital or income returns to a Fund and may not be speculative in nature.
Funds can engage in derivative transactions, Securities Lending and Reverse Repurchase agreements as a means of
Efficient Portfolio Management (‘EPM”). Such techniques and instruments will be utilised in accordance with the
requirements of the Central Bank of Ireland. New techniques and instruments may be developed which may be suitable
for use by the Company and the Company may employ such techniques. Details of the financial derivative instruments
held at 31 July 2013 can be found in the Schedule of Investments for each relevant Fund.

l. Future Contracts

Each Fund may enter into exchange-traded futures of single stocks or of publicly available indices or subsets/aggregates
thereof. In the case of each Fund, these futures may be used for investment purposes in order to provide the Fund with an
efficient way of gaining exposure to the market(s) it invests in according to the investment objective and policies of that
Fund. These exchange-traded futures will under normal circumstances be used for the following purposes:

(a) To keep the Funds fully invested during portfolio rebalancing in the wake of index changes;
(b) To manage investor money flows; and

(c) For intraday and day-to-day fine tuning of the investments of each Fund.
Il. Risk Associated with Swaps

A Fund may enter into swaps with a member of the BlackRock Group or any other eligible entity (being the “Approved
Counterparty”). The purpose of such swaps shall be to gain indirect exposure to the Reference Index.

The following Funds used these swaps during the year:

Name of Fund” Total Return Swap held

iShares CSI 300 UCITS ETF (Swap) CSI 300 Index Sub Basket

iShares MSCI EM EMEA UCITS ETF (Swap) MSCI EM EMEA Index Sub Basket
iShares MSCI India UCITS ETF (Swap) MSCI India Index Sub Basket
iShares MSCI Taiwan UCITS ETF (Swap) MSCI Taiwan Index Sub Basket
iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap) EONIA Index Sub Basket

iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap) Fed Funds Index Sub Basket

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.

The Fund will be entitled to receive from the Approved Counterparty the performance of respective components of the
Reference Index in exchange for the payment to the Approved Counterparty of:
(i) some or all of the net proceeds of any issue of shares, or

(ii) payments linked to the return on some or all of the equities and other eligible assets held by the Fund as listed in the
portfolio of transferable securities or other eligible assets that may comprise all the constituent securities of the Reference
Index, an optimised sample thereof, or unrelated transferable securities or other eligible assets.
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Il. Risk Associated with Swaps (continued)

These may include (without limitation) equity and equity-related securities; fixed income securities such as convertibles,
gilts, money market instruments, floating rate instruments and commercial paper; asset-backed securities including
structured finance securities; financial derivative instruments (“FDI”); and/or units of other open-ended collective
investment schemes including other Funds of the Company. Any of the foregoing may be issued or arranged by a
member of the BlackRock Group. Where the Fund invests in securities and/or other eligible assets which in aggregate do
not fully replicate the Reference Index, the Fund will generally enter into a swap and/or other FDIs to exchange, directly or
indirectly, the price performance and income received in relation to such securities and/or other eligible assets for the
performance of the Reference Index. In this instance, the Fund will have neither market nor credit exposure to the
particular securities and other eligible assets referred to above, except in the event of a default on the part of the
Approved Counterparty to the swaps or such other FDIs.

The swaps will at all times be valued in accordance with the provisions of the Prospectus. The valuation of the swaps will
reflect the relative movements in the performance of the Reference Index and the Fund’s holding of transferable securities
and/or other Fund’s assets as may be referenced under the swaps.

Depending on the value of the swaps, the Fund will have to make a payment to the Approved Counterparty or will receive
such a payment in accordance with the Swap Agreement. Where the Fund has to make a payment to the Approved
Counterparty, this payment will be made from the disposal of some or all of the transferable securities and/or other Fund’s
assets in which the Fund has invested.

Accordingly, the Company will reduce such counterparty exposure by causing the Approved Counterparty, where
necessary, to provide appropriate collateral to the Company on behalf of the relevant Fund under the terms of the
International Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA”) Master Agreement.

Alternatively, the Company may reduce its risk exposure to the Approved Counterparty by resetting the swaps. The effect
of resetting the swaps is to reduce the mark to market value of the swaps, and thereby reduce the net counterparty
exposure accordingly. The collateral and/or reset mechanisms described above can also be used by the Approved
Counterparty to reduce its exposure to the Fund, which would result in a corresponding payment from the Fund to the
Approved Counterparty. The reset process occurs on a daily basis.

Credit risk is mitigated by the frequent (daily) re-set of the swaps between the substitute baskets’ and the indices’
performance. Collateral was not used to mitigate credit risk during the year; swap-based CS ETFs own a basket of
securities and therefore do not require collateral.

There are several risks associated with the use of swaps, including no assurance that a Fund will achieve its stated
investment objective. Additionally, a Fund may not receive the desired return from an Approved Counterparty for a
number of reasons which include:

e a material increase in the Approved Counterparty’s costs under the swap (e.g. holding a physical position in an
index’s underlying securities) or a material change or impediment to maintain such, resulting in an amendment to
the terms of the swap, an increase in the fees payable to the Approved Counterparty by a Fund, a postponed or
reduced payment of return under the swaps, or physical settlement or termination of the swaps;

e anincrease or decrease in a Fund’s exposure to an index through the swap as a result of the issue or redemption
of shares in a Fund. The cost and method of issuing or redeeming shares with the counterparty may mean that
the price at which the Fund issues or redeems shares will not correspond exactly to the price at which the Fund
may have issued or redeemed such shares if the Fund had invested directly in the relevant index constituents;
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e the termination of a swap earlier than its anticipated term, for reasons such as modification or cancellation of the
Relevant Index or Reference Assets for the relevant Fund, illegality, default or market disruption. Where a swap
terminates early, a termination payment may be payable to the Approved Counterparty by the relevant Fund and
this would reduce both the exposure of the Fund to the relevant Index and the return to holders of redeemable

participating shares in the Fund;

e at the end of the term of a swap, the Fund will need to enter into another swap. It may not be possible to enter
into an swap with similar arrangements and terms to the original swap;

lll. Securities Lending

During the year, six Funds engaged in securities lending subject to the conditions and within the limits laid down by the
Central Bank and the Prospectus.

The collateral is registered and held in the name of the Bank of New York Mellon (London Branch) (“Lending Agent”) on
behalf of the Funds. The Investment Manager and the Lending Agent monitor the fair value of the securities loaned and
additional collateral is obtained, if necessary.

The Funds only participate in the Bank of New York Mellon lending agency programme.

The Funds do not accept cash as collateral.

Securities lending income was split between the lending agent (25%), the Fund (60%) and the Investment Manager
(15%). With effect from 1 July 2013, securities lending income was split between the Fund and the lending agent with a
ratio of 60:40 in favour of the Fund.

During the year ended 31 July 2013, the Company earned revenue from securities lending as detailed per the table
below:

Gross Net

Income Direct | Indirect Income

earned Costs Costs Earned

during the | during the during | during the

Fund” Currency year year | theyear year
iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF EUR 392,011 156,796 - 235,215
iShares MSCI Japan - B UCITS ETF (Acc) JPY 47,932,502 | 19,170,839 - | 28,761,663
iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR 68,147 27,255 - 40,892
iShares MSCI Canada - B UCITS ETF CAD 505,472 202,186 - 303,286
iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF EUR 1,712,184 684,868 - 1,027,316
iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR 338,675 135,469 - 203,206
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lll. Securities Lending (continued)

As at 31 July 2013, the value of securities on loan and collateral held was as follows:

Value of
Fair Value of | collateral held Value of
securities on | by the Fund at | collateral held
Fund” & Counterparty Currency| loan at year end year end %
iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF
Barclays Capital Securities Ltd. EUR 241,462 260,061 107.70%
Citigroup Global Markets Limited EUR 1,020,441 1,444,469 141.55%
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited EUR 4,957,839 5,473,200 110.39%
Deutsche Bank, AG EUR 4,648,759 5,169,470 111.20%
Goldman Sachs International EUR 3,992,782 4,208,799 105.41%
J.P. Morgan Securities, Plc. EUR 8,681,443 9,630,684 110.93%
Merrill Lynch International EUR 600,220 1,020,302 169.99%
Morgan Stanley & Co. International Plc EUR 1,276,202 1,362,955 106.80%
Royal Bank of Scotland EUR 378,100 407,031 107.65%
Societe Generale EUR 282,908 312,842 110.58%
UBS AG EUR 4,155,550 4,481,191 107.84%
Total 30,235,706 33,771,004
iShares MSCI Japan - B UCITS ETF (Acc)
Barclays Capital Securities Ltd. JPY 479,179,282 549,393,905 114.65%
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited JPY 5,734,978,294 | 6,888,931,597 120.12%
Deutsche Bank, AG JPY 2,781,847,492 | 3,093,165,009 111.19%
Goldman Sachs International JPY 282,554,024 306,477,227 108.47%
J.P. Morgan Securities, Plc. JPY 285,819,631 318,288,103 111.36%
Merrill Lynch International JPY 1,619,928 2,753,682 169.99%
Morgan Stanley & Co. International Plc JPY 110,624,315 124,402,024 112.45%
Nomura International, Plc JPY 111,552,241 123,706,072 110.90%
Societe Generale JPY 17,079,103 17,973,878 105.24%
UBS AG JPY 2,757,318,097 | 3,054,395,541 110.77%
Total 12,562,572,407 | 14,479,487,038

Please refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
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lll. Securities Lending (continued)

Value of

Fair Value of | collateral held Value of

securities on | by the Fund at | collateral held
Fund” & Counterparty Currency | loan at year end year end %
iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc)
Citigroup Global Markets Limited EUR 214,251 235,687 110.00%
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited EUR 1,026,487 1,264,199 123.16%
Deutsche Bank, AG EUR 337,628 374,776 111.00%
Goldman Sachs International EUR 7,431 7,828 105.34%
J.P. Morgan Securities, Plc. EUR 631,249 696,672 110.36%
Merrill Lynch International EUR 569,357 645,180 113.32%
Morgan Stanley & Co. International Plc EUR 187,503 206,302 110.03%
UBS AG EUR 143,448 156,020 108.76%
Total 3,117,354 3,586,664
iShares MSCI Canada - B UCITS ETF
Barclays Capital Securities Ltd. CAD 13,193,790 15,439,177 117.02%
Citigroup Global Markets Limited CAD 4,506,900 10,256,568 227.57%
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited CAD 5,652,073 6,029,397 106.68%
Deutsche Bank, AG CAD 320,500 355,763 111.00%
Goldman Sachs International CAD 20,929,064 22,639,599 108.17%
HSBC Bank Plc CAD 6,421,000 6,792,060 105.78%
Morgan Stanley & Co. International Plc CAD 829,329 871,844 105.13%
Royal Bank of Scotland CAD 642,100 713,822 111.17%
Societe Generale CAD 9,240,487 9,735,333 105.36%
UBS AG CAD 4,709,497 4,972,690 105.59%
Total 66,444,740 77,806,253
iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF
Citigroup Global Markets Limited EUR 6,005,543 8,733,822 145.43%
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited EUR 15,397,394 18,234,266 118.42%
Deutsche Bank, AG EUR 7,413,227 8,224,531 110.94%
Goldman Sachs International EUR 217,209 228,835 105.35%
J.P. Morgan Securities, Plc. EUR 26,976,695 29,754,061 110.30%
Merrill Lynch International EUR 28,303,064 31,962,513 112.93%
Morgan Stanley & Co. International Plc EUR 10,989,767 12,091,615 110.03%
UBS AG EUR 8,745,797 9,579,529 109.53%
Total 104,048,696 118,809,172

Please refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
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Value of

Fair Value of | collateral held Value of

securities on | by the Fund at | collateral held
Fund” & Counterparty Currency | loan at year end year end %
iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF
(Acc)
Citigroup Global Markets Limited EUR 338,791 372,687 110.00%
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited EUR 6,020,997 7,174,752 119.16%
J.P. Morgan Securities, Plc. EUR 1,630,986 1,794,797 110.04%
Merrill Lynch International EUR 5,486,605 6,035,743 110.01%
UBS AG EUR 876,459 965,211 110.13%
Total 14,353,838 16,343,190

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.

For the year ended 31 July 2012, the company earned revenue from securities lending as detailed per table below:

Gross Income Direct Indirect Net Income

earned during Costs Costs Earned

the | during the during during the

Fund” Currency year year | the year year

iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF EUR 250,141 100,055 - 150,086

iShares MSCI Japan - B UCITS ETF (Acc) JPY 11,761,082 | 4,704,433 - 7,056,649

iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR 71,997 28,797 - 43,200

iShares MSCI Canada - B UCITS ETF CAD 142,246 56,898 - 85,348

iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF EUR 2,354,504 941,799 - 1,412,705
iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF

(Acc) EUR 600,805 240,322 - 360,483

Value of

Fair Value of | collateral held Value of

securities on | by the Fund at | collateral held

Fund” & Counterparty Currency| loan at year end year end %
iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF

Barclays Capital Securities Ltd. EUR 206,813 248,039 119.93%

Citigroup Global Markets Limited EUR 73,254 77,072 105.21%

Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited EUR 6,861,718 7,440,589 108.44%

Deutsche Bank, AG EUR 998,419 1,087,442 108.92%

Goldman Sachs International EUR 2,671,304 2,827,804 105.86%

J.P. Morgan Securities, Plc. EUR 2,059,811 2,248,430 109.16%

Morgan Stanley & Co. International PLC EUR 270,284 352,090 130.27%

UBS AG EUR 1,820,972 2,094,714 115.03%

Total 14,962,575 16,376,180
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lll. Securities Lending (continued)

Fair Value of
securities on

Value of
collateral held
by the Fund at

Value of
collateral held

Fund” & Counterparty Currency | loan at year end year end %
iShares MSCI Japan - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

Citigroup Global Markets Limited JPY 1,300,122,298 | 1,430,202,359 110.01%
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited JPY 7,240,653,817 | 8,077,374,093 111.56%
Deutsche Bank, AG JPY 1,113,288,990 | 1,223,930,936 109.94%
J.P. Morgan Securities, Plc. JPY 99,457,056 109,543,640 110.14%
UBS AG JPY 2,081,135,043 | 2,296,467,055 110.35%
Total 11,834,657,204 | 13,137,518,083

iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

Citigroup Global Markets Limited EUR 127,377 136,614 107.25%
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited EUR 1,355,810 1,499,586 110.60%
Deutsche Bank, AG EUR 872,483 959,922 110.02%
Goldman Sachs International EUR 348,130 377,064 108.31%
J.P. Morgan Securities, Plc. EUR 1,723,490 1,819,560 105.57%
Merrill Lynch International EUR 156,375 164,432 105.15%
UBS AG EUR 158,914 182,805 115.03%
Total 4,742,579 5,139,983

iShares MSCI Canada - B UCITS ETF

Citigroup Global Markets Limited CAD 16,431,680 17,288,001 105.21%
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited CAD 21,096,344 22,818,241 108.16%
Goldman Sachs International CAD 19,263,050 20,596,106 106.92%
Morgan Stanley & Co. International Plc CAD 350,768 456,933 130.27%
Royal Bank of Scotland CAD 4,620,800 4,911,368 106.29%
Societe Generale CAD 637,500 673,533 105.65%
UBS AG CAD 3,428,605 3,944,045 115.03%
Total 65,828,747 70,688,227

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
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lll. Securities Lending (continued)

Value of

Fair Value of | collateral held Value of

securities on | by the Fund at | collateral held
Fund” & Counterparty Currency | loan at year end year end %
iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF
Citigroup Global Markets Limited EUR 5,940,642 6,336,977 106.67%
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited EUR 64,349,193 71,248,255 110.72%
Deutsche Bank, AG EUR 28,916,340 31,826,760 110.06%
Goldman Sachs International EUR 30,489,729 33,481,224 109.81%
J.P. Morgan Securities, Plc. EUR 13,474,889 14,715,166 109.20%
Merrill Lynch International EUR 3,854,077 4,052,663 105.15%
UBS AG EUR 7,881,335 8,993,110 114.11%
Total 154,906,205 170,654,155
iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF
(Acc)
Citigroup Global Markets Limited EUR 634,671 667,747 105.21%
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited EUR 10,743,740 11,924,940 110.99%
Deutsche Bank, AG EUR 8,078,250 8,892,002 110.07%
Goldman Sachs International EUR 6,235,165 6,853,635 109.92%
Merrill Lynch International EUR 72,692 76,437 105.15%
UBS AG EUR 1,402,650 1,613,518 115.03%
Total 27,167,168 30,028,279

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.

The collateral types held at the year-end were Equity and Debt instruments.

A risk associated with securities lending is exposure to borrowing counterparties. To mitigate this risk, Funds hold
sovereign and supranational debt and liquid equity securities as collateral valued in excess of the market value of the
securities on loan. Collateral must meet certain quantitative and qualitative criteria to ensure regulatory compliance. (The
current collateral which a lending Fund holds, can be seen within 48 hours at www.ishares.com). Bank of New York
Mellon (as lending agent) and the Investment Manager also apply counterparty management controls.

The Company engages in securities lending activities which exposes participating Funds to credit risk. The maximum
exposure is the securities loaned and this is mitigated through receipt of collateral. The Lending Agent only transacts with
borrowers that have a minimum short term credit rating of A-2 (S&P Short Term LC). In the event that the Borrower
ceases to have a minimum short term credit rating A-2, the Lending Agent shall promptly notify the Fund of the rating

downgrade.
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The Manager

The Company has appointed Blackrock Fund Management Company (Ireland) Limited (“the Manager”) to act as Manager
to the Company effective 1 July 2013. The Manager is ultimately owned by Blackrock Inc, a company incorporated in
Delaware, USA. Prior to 1 July 2013, Credit Suisse Fund Management Company (lreland) Limited was the Manager of the
Company. The Manager fee earned for the year ended 31 July 2013 was EUR 13,550,936 (EUR 11,285,186 for the year
ended 31 July 2012) with EUR 1,196,266 (31 July 2012: EUR 1,024,841) payable at the year end.

The Manager is entitled to a fee, accrued daily and payable monthly in arrears, based on a percentage of the net assets
of each Fund or class of shares at the following annual rates:

Fund# Manager Fee Rate Manager Fee Rate

2013 2012
iShares MSCI UK Large Cap UCITS ETF 0.36% 0.36%
iShares MSCI UK Small Cap UCITS ETF 0.42% 0.42%
iShares MSCI USA Large Cap UCITS ETF 0.22% 0.22%
iShares MSCI USA Small Cap UCITS ETF 0.30% 0.30%
iShares MSCI Japan Large Cap UCITS ETF 0.36% 0.36%
iShares MSCI Japan Small Cap UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.42% 0.42%
iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF 0.42% 0.42%
iShares USD Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.12% 0.12%
iShares USD Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.12% 0.12%
iShares USD Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.12% 0.12%
iShares Euro Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.12% 0.12%
iShares Euro Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.12% 0.12%
iShares Euro Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.12% 0.12%
iShares USD Inflation Linked Bond UCITS ETF 0.16% 0.16%
iShares Euro Inflation Link Bond UCITS ETF 0.16% 0.16%
iShares MSCI USA - B UCITS ETF 0.22% 0.22%
iShares MSCI Japan - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.36% 0.36%
iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.20% 0.20%
iShares MSCI Pacific ex Japan UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.35% 0.35%
iShares MSCI Canada - B UCITS ETF 0.36% 0.36%
iShares MSCI UK UCITS ETF 0.21% 0.21%
iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF 0.20% 0.20%
iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.06% 0.06%
iShares Dow Jones Industrial Average®™ UCITS ETF 0.22% 0.22%
iShares NASDAQ 100 UCITS ETF 0.17% 0.17%
iShares FTSE 100 UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.22% 0.22%
iShares FTSE MIB UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.20% 0.20%
iShares Nikkei 225 UCITS ETF 0.38% 0.38%
iShares S&P 500 - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.09% 0.09%
iShares MSCI South Africa - B UCITS ETF 0.52% 0.52%
iShares MSCI EM Asia UCITS ETF 0.52% 0.52%
iShares CSI 300 UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.32% 0.32%
iShares MSCI EM EMEA UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.52% 0.52%
iShares MSCI India UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.65% 0.65%

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
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The Manager (continued)

Fund? Manager Fee Rate Manager Fee Rate

2013 2012
iShares MSCI Korea UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.52% 0.52%
iShares MSCI Taiwan UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.52% 0.52%
iShares MSCI Australia - B UCITS ETF 0.34% 0.34%
iShares MSCI EM Latin America UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.47% 0.52%
iShares MSCI Mexico Capped UCITS ETF 0.52% 0.52%
iShares MSCI Russia ADR/GDR UCITS ETF 0.52% 0.52%
iShares MSCI Brazil UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.52% 0.52%
iShares MSCI Chile UCITS ETF 0.39% 0.52%
iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.04% 0.04%
iShares MSCI World - B UCITS ETF (Acc) 0.21% 0.21%
iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap) 0.04% 0.04%
iShares Global Alternative Energy UCITS ETF 0.57% 0.57%

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
Directors

The following Directors were appointed on 1 July 2013:
Mr Paul McNaughton

Mr Paul McGowan

Mrs Cora O’Donoghue

Ms Karen Prooth

Mr Barry O’Dwyer

The following Directors resigned on 30 June 2013:
Mr John Donohoe

Mr Luca Diener

Mr Barry McGrath

Mr Dan Draper

Mr. John Donohoe is Chief Executive Officer and principal of Carne Global Financial Services Limited (“Carne”) a leading
Fund Governance provider to the asset management industry. Carne acts as Secretary to the Company and the Manager,
and also provided other Fund Governance services to the Manager until 30 June 2013. The amount paid to Carne was
EUR 64,917 for the year ended 31 July 2013 (EUR 97,875 for the year ended 31 July 2012). This was paid by the
Manager.

Mr Barry McGrath is a Partner in Maples & Calder which provided legal and foreign registration services to the Company
until 30 June 2013. The amount paid to Maples & Calder was EUR 90,398 for the year ended 31 July 2013 (EUR 760,702
for the year ended 31 July 2012). This was paid by the Manager.

Mr Barry O’'Dwyer is also a non-executive Director of the Manager, BlackRock Fund Management Company (Ireland)
Limited, and is appointed on 1 July 2013.

As at 31 July 2013, Cora O’Donoghue held shares either directly or indirectly in other iShares Funds.

Mrs Cora O’Donoghue, Ms Karen Prooth and Mr Barry O’Dwyer are employees of the BlackRock Group.
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Directors (continued)

The amounts paid for Directors’ Remuneration to the previous Directors was EUR 56,941 for the year ended 31 July 2013
(EUR 51,069 for the year ended 31 July 2012).There were no payments made to the newly appointed Directors. All
expenses are paid by the Manager.

None of the current Directors are materially interested in any contract or arrangement which are unusual in nature and
conditions or are significant in relation to the business of the Company.

None of the current Directors or any associated persons have any beneficial interest in the share capital of the Company
or any options in respect of such capital.

The current Directors also serve on the Boards of other “iShares” entities, managed by BlackRock Advisors (UK) Limited.

The Investment Manager and Promoter

Effective 1 July 2013, the Company has appointed BlackRock Advisors (UK) Limited to act as Investment Manager and
Promoter to the Company. BlackRock Inc holds 1 subscriber share in the Company. The Investment Manager and
Promoter are ultimately owned by BlackRock Inc. All fees are paid by the Manager. Effective 1 July 2013, the Investment
Manager has appointed Credit Suisse AG to act as Sub-Advisor.

Future Clearing Merchant
Credit Suisse AG, the counterparty for future contracts earned EUR 439,847 in commissions on futures transactions for
the year ended 31 July 2013 (EUR 412,532 for the year ended 31 July 2012).

Swaps Counterparty
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited, the counterparty for swaps earned EUR 65,549 in commissions on swap
transactions for the year ended 31 July 2013 (EUR 795,525 for the year ended 31 July 2012).

Administration Expenses

Administration expenses includes custodian fees, fees to the Directors and Administrator, exceptional expenses, setting
up costs, miscellaneous expenses and transaction fees, as detailed in the Prospectus. These administration expenses are
charged to the Fund as part of the Total Expense Ratio, and credited to the Manager who in turn pays for the services
listed above.

For the avoidance of doubt, where the fees payable to the Manager exceed the Administration Expenses, the Manager
shall be entitled to retain such excess for its own account. The Administration Expenses for the year ended 31 July 2013
were EUR 6,544,731 (EUR 5,561,616 for the year ended 31 July 2012) with EUR 573,609 (31 July 2012: EUR 512,196)
payable at the year end.

Broker Services

The cash-based Funds occasionally buy and sell their securities through Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited. The
swap-based Funds buy and sell the securities for the substitute basket solely from Credit Suisse Securities (Europe)
Limited. Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited received EUR 524,253 in broker services fees for the year ended 31
July 2013 (EUR 535,210 for the year ended 31 July 2012).

Authorised Participants

Certain brokers are authorised by the Company to subscribe and redeem Shares of the Funds directly with the Company
(“Authorised Participants”). Such Authorised Participants generally have the capability to deliver the Shares of the Funds
within the clearing systems relevant to the stock exchanges on which the Shares are listed. Credit Suisse Securities
(Europe) Limited and Credit Suisse AG act as Authorised Participants for the Company.
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12. Significant Agreements and Related Party Transactions (continued)

PMTC

The Funds receive a payment to cover PMTC from Authorised Participants as part of the subscription/redemption
process. The same amounts are then paid out to cover transaction expenses; in case of swap-based Funds, the same
amounts are paid to Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited to cover swap commissions. These fees are reclassed to
net realised gains and losses in the Profit and Loss Account. Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited paid EUR 210,990
in PMTC for the year ended 31 July 2013 (EUR 1,226,937 for the year ended 31 July 2012). Credit Suisse AG paid EUR
309,041 in PMTC for the year ended 31 July 2013 (EUR 947,834 for the year ended 31 July 2012).

Securities Lending
Credit Suisse AG received EUR 466,939 in securities lending fees for the year ended 31 July 2013 (EUR 525,372 for the
year ended 31 July 2012).

All of the above transactions are carried out on normal commercial terms, negotiated at arms length and in the best
interest of the shareholders.

13. Operation Expenses

Custodian Fee
The Company has appointed BNY Mellon Trust Company (Ireland) Limited as Custodian of its assets pursuant to the
Custodian Agreement dated 26 May 2009 (and amended on 4 May 2010).

The Custodian is entitled to receive from each Fund a custodian fee. This fee will be paid by the Company to the
Custodian on behalf of the Funds. The Company will also reimburse the Custodian out of the assets of the Funds for
reasonable and approved by the Company out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Custodian and for fees (which will not
exceed normal commercial rates) and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of any sub-custodian appointed by the
Custodian and will be liable for transaction costs, incurred in buying and selling securities and other investments hold by
the Funds. The fees and expenses of the Custodian accrue on each Dealing Day and are payable monthly in arrears.

The amount paid to the Custodian for the year ended 31 July 2013 was EUR 311,925 (EUR 309,883 for the year ended
31 July 2012).

Administrator Fees

The Company has appointed BNY Mellon Fund Services (Ireland) Limited as the Administrator and Registrar of the
Company pursuant to the Administration Agreement dated 26 May 2009 (and amended on 4 May 2010). The Company
shall pay to the Administrator a fee for its services as Administrator (including all vouched out-of-pocket costs and
expenses reasonably incurred by it). The fees and expenses of the Administrator accrue on each Dealing Day. The
amount paid to the Administrator for the year ended 31 July 2013 was EUR 1,509,096 (EUR 1,489,094 for the year ended
31 July 2012).

Audit Fees

KPMG, the Company’s Statutory Auditors charged EUR 226,320 (EUR 226,320 for the year ended 31 July 2012) for their
audit of the Company’s Books and records. The audit fee per Fund was EUR 4,000. There were no other assurance
services, tax advisory services or other non audit services provided by KPMG as the auditor of the Company.

Directors’ Fee

The Directors shall be entitled to an annual fee that is consistent with market rates and as agreed between the Company
and the Promoter, or such other amount as may be approved by a resolution of the Shareholders in a general meeting
and may be paid all reasonable and properly vouched traveling, hotel and other out-of-pocket expenses properly incurred
by them in connection with their attendance at the meeting of the Directors.

Miscellaneous Expenses
Miscellaneous expenses shall be paid by the Company. Please refer to the Prospectus for further details of types of
miscellaneous expenses.
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Transaction costs for purchases and sales of equities by physically replicating equity funds are included in the net
gains/(losses) on investments in the Profit and Loss Account for each Fund. However, the great majority of these costs
are caused by primary market transactions (i.e. when an Authorised Participant subscribes or redeems shares of a Fund);
such costs are passed on to the subscribing/redeeming Authorised Participant and reimbursed to the fund. A small portion
of transaction costs will be incurred in regular (e.g. quarterly) re-balancing of the portfolio as per the Fund’s respective
reference index rules.

Similarly, transaction costs for synthetically replicating funds are included in the net gains/(losses) on investments in the
Profit and Loss Account for each synthetically replicating Fund. These are paid by the synthetically replicating fund to
Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited as swap commissions, but reimbursed to the fund by subscribing/redeeming
Authorised Participants as a PMTC, expressed in basis points.

Transaction costs for futures are included in the net gains/(losses) on investments in the Profit and Loss Account for each
Fund.

Transaction costs on purchase and sale of bonds are included in the purchase and sale price of the investment as per
standard fixed income market practice. They cannot be practically or reliably gathered as they are embedded in the cost
of the investment and cannot be separately verified or disclosed.

All the transactions below are carried out on normal commercial terms.

Please refer to Note 5 for PMTC.

The following table shows the identifiable transaction costs for the year ended 31 July 2013 and 31 July 2012:

FundA Base Currency Transaction costs

31 July 2013 31 July 2012
iShares MSCI UK Large Cap UCITS ETF GBP 29,171 47,793
iShares MSCI UK Small Cap UCITS ETF GBP 37,477 33,674
iShares MSCI USA Large Cap UCITS ETF uUsD 6,554 14,515
iShares MSCI USA Small Cap UCITS ETF uUsD 24,467 24,586
iShares MSCI Japan Large Cap UCITS ETF JPY 1,184,405 3,057,747
iShares MSCI Japan Small Cap UCITS ETF (Acc) JPY 1,997,761 1,476,676
iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF EUR 98,895 57,836
iShares USD Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc)* usD n/a n/a
iShares USD Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc)* usbD n/a n/a
iShares USD Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc)* uSD n/a n/a
iShares Euro Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc)* EUR n/a n/a
iShares Euro Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc)* EUR n/a n/a
iShares Euro Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc)* EUR n/a n/a
iShares USD Inflation Linked Bond UCITS ETF* uUsD n/a n/a
iShares Euro Inflation Link Bond UCITS ETF* EUR n/a n/a
iShares MSCI USA - B UCITS ETF uUsD 51,547 33,422
iShares MSCI Japan - B UCITS ETF (Acc) JPY 9,421,793 7,448,410
iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR 67,584 71,484

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
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14. Transaction Costs (continued)
Fund”?

iShares MSCI Pacific ex Japan UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares MSCI Canada - B UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI UK UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF

iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares Dow Jones Industrial Average® UCITS ETF

iShares NASDAQ 100 UCITS ETF

iShares FTSE 100 UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares FTSE MIB UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares Nikkei 225 UCITS ETF

iShares S&P 500 - B UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares MSCI South Africa - B UCITS ETF
iShares MSCI EM Asia UCITS ETF

iShares CSI 300 UCITS ETF (Swap)**

iShares MSCI EM EMEA UCITS ETF (Swap)**
iShares MSCI India UCITS ETF (Swap)**
iShares MSCI Korea UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares MSCI Taiwan UCITS ETF (Swap)**
iShares MSCI Australia - B UCITS ETF
iShares MSCI EM Latin America UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares MSCI Mexico Capped UCITS ETF
iShares MSCI Russia ADR/GDR UCITS ETF
iShares MSCI Brazil UCITS ETF (Acc)
iShares MSCI Chile UCITS ETF

iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap)**

iShares MSCI World - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap)**

iShares Global Alternative Energy UCITS ETF

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.

Base Currency

usbD

CAD

GBP
EUR
EUR
usD
uUsD
GBP
EUR
JPY
usD
usD
usD
usD
usbh
usSD
usD
usDhD
usbD
usD
usD
usD
usD
usD
EUR
usDhD
usDhD
usD

Transaction costs

31 July 2013

76,150
53,593
101,776
268,494
62,425
16,802
45,628
56,846
64,767
4,836,772
86,349
20,810
66,260
n/a

n/a
39,115
210,577
36,437
22,036
2,659
42,698
32,325
52,648
45,300
5,955
72,381
1,948
11,224

31 July 2012

74,099
22,903
807,338
122,387
39,212
24,898
42,726
201,824
11,347
1,756,624
58,178
194,421
139,658
n/a

n/a

n/a
65,418
n/a
31,692
65,562
46,367
518,439
229,465
188,418
n/a
85,724
n/a
18,872

*Transaction costs on purchase and sale of bonds are included in the purchase and sale price of the investment.

**Transaction costs for synthetically replicating Funds are included in the net gain/(loss) on investment in the Profit and
Loss Account for each synthetically replicating fund. These cannot be practically or relatively gathered and cannot be

separately verified or disclosed.
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15. Financial Risk Management

. General

The Company’s investing activities expose it to various types of risks that are associated with the financial investments
and markets in which it invests. These may be both derivative and non-derivative financial investments. The Company’s
investment portfolio is comprised mainly of debt and equity investments and total return swaps at the year end. The
significant types of financial risks which the Company is exposed to include market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The
Prospectus provides details of these and other types of risk.

Achievement of the investment objectives involves taking risks. The Investment Manager exercises judgement based on
analysis, research and risk management techniques when making investment decisions. Discretion is limited within the
constraints of the objectives of the Funds to replicate the index as closely as possible. Divergence from the benchmark
and the composition of the portfolio is monitored by the Investment Manager.

The Company’s Manager has established a permanent risk management function details of which are set out in the
Manager’s business plan. The risk management process is the responsibility of the Manager and the Company which has
delegated this responsibility to the Investment Manager. The roles of Investment Manager, Administrator and Custodian
are set out below and overleaf.

The relevant valuation rules applying to the valuation of Financial Derivative Instruments (“FDI”) are set out in Note 2 of
the financial statements.

Sub-Advisor — Credit Suisse AG (appointed 1 July 2013)

Credit Suisse AG is registered as a limited company in Switzerland and is authorised and regulated by the Swiss
Financial Market Supervisory Authority (“FINMA”). The Sub-Advisor has primary responsibility for the management of the
risks arising from the use of FDI. The relevant FDI exposures are monitored by the Sub-Advisor daily. Credit Suisse AG
previously acted as Investment Manager until its resignation on 30 June 2013.

Investment Manager — BlackRock Advisors (UK) Limited (appointed 1 July 2013)
BlackRock Advisors (UK) Limited is a privately owned Investment Manager, based in London, United Kingdom. It
operates as a subsidiary of BlackRock, Inc.

Administrator — BNY Mellon Fund Services (Ireland) Limited

BNY Mellon Fund Services (Ireland) Limited obtains valuations for all FDI positions as part of the determination of the net
asset value of the Funds in accordance with the Prospectus. The relevant valuation rules applying to the valuation of FDI
are set out in Note 11 of the financial statements.

Custodian — BNY Mellon Trust Company (Ireland) Limited

BNY Mellon Trust Company (Ireland) Limited will perform independent compliance monitoring of all investment limits,
including FDI limits, to satisfy its fiduciary responsibilities as Custodian to the Funds. The Custodian will also perform
independent oversight of the administration function including those relating to FDI.

The risk management policies employed by the Company are detailed below.

Il. Market Risk

The potential for changes in the fair value of the Company’s investment portfolio is referred to as market risk. Commonly
used categories of market risk include currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

e Currency risks may result from exposures to changes in spot prices, forward prices and volatilities of currency rates.

e Interest rate risks may result from exposures to changes in the level, slope and curvature of the various yield curves,
the volatility of interest rates, mortgage prepayment speeds and credit spreads.
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15. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Il. Market Risk (continued)

e Other price risks are the risk that the value of an instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices other
than those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk and may result from exposures to changes in the prices and
volatilities of individual debt investments, equities, equity baskets, equity indices and commodities.

The Company’s market risk strategy is driven by the Company’s investment risk and return objectives. The Board of
Directors has instructed the Investment Manager to manage each of the risks in accordance with an established risk
management system.

In calculating Global Exposure, the Company adopts a commitment approach in managing risks. The commitment
approach will be applied to all positions in FDI whether used as part of the Fund’s general investment policy, for purposes
of risk reduction or for the purpose of efficient portfolio management.

Portfolio composition and performance are monitored on a daily basis by the Sub-Advisor and the Investment Manager
with risk management systems.

i. Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a Fund’s net assets will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency rates.
Consequently, the assets of a Fund as measured in its functional currency relative to other currencies may fluctuate in a
manner which may have an adverse effect on the value of the Fund’s assets denominated in currencies other than its own
currency.

The following tables set out the Funds’ total exposure to foreign currency as at 31 July 2013 , together with sensitivity
analysis thereon.

iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

Currency

Cash Investments Exposure Sensitivity 31-July-2013

EUR EUR EUR Movement EUR
Danish Krone 6,036 690,186 696,222 5% 33,153
Norwegian Krone 24,104 511,481 535,585 5% 25,504
Pound Sterling 193,308 13,139,955 13,333,263 5% 634,917
Swedish Krona 7,430 1,958,385 1,965,815 5% 93,610
Swiss Franc 50,587 5,456,730 5,507,317 5% 262,253
US Dollar 10,962 - 10,962 5% 522
Total 1,049,959
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Il. Market Risk (continued)

i. Currency Risk (continued)

iShares MSCI Pacific ex Japan UCITS ETF (Acc)

Australian Dollar
Hong Kong Dollar
New Zealand Dollar
Singapore Dollar

Total

Cash Investments

usD usD
303,473 40,028,847
41,624 15,322,004
6,300 602,814
140,612 8,233,004

iShares MSCI South Africa - B UCITS ETF

South African Rand

Total

Cash Investments
UsD UsD
23,842 14,360,695

iShares MSCI EM Asia UCITS ETF

Chinese Yuan
Hong Kong Dollar
Indonesian Rupiah
Korean Won
Malaysian Ringgit
Philippine Peso
Taiwan Dollar

Thailand Baht

Total

Cash Investments
usbD usbD
34,770 -
166,023 14,923,975
4,040 2,527,318
4,946 11,823,887
3,692 3,056,354
- 941,706
87,705 9,405,814
- 2,404,632

iShares CSI 300 UCITS ETF (Swap)*

Euro

Swedish Krona

Total

Cash Investments
uUsD uUsD
- 105,110,126

- 32,002,362

Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure
uUSD EUR
40,332,320 30,374,609
15,363,528 11,570,402
609,114 458,729
8,373,616 6,306,241
Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure
uUSsD EUR
14,384,537 10,833,116
Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure
uUsD EUR
34,770 26,186
15,089,998 11,364,404
2,531,358 1,906,387
11,828,833 8,908,394
3,060,046 2,304,546
941,706 709,207
9,493,519 7,149,649
2,404,632 1,810,949
Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure
uUsD EUR
05,110,126 79,159,320
32,002,362 24,101,248
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Sensitivity
Movement
5%
5%
5%
5%

Sensitivity
Movement
5%

Sensitivity
Movement
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%
5%

Sensitivity
Movement
5%
5%

31-July-2013  31-July-2013
usD EUR
1,920,587 1,446,410
731,597 550,972
29,005 21,844
398,744 300,297
3,079,933 2,319,523
31-July-2013  31-July-2013
usD EUR
684,978 515,863
684,978 515,863
31-July-2013  31-July-2013
usD EUR

1,656 1,247
718,571 541,162
120,541 90,780
563,278 424,209
145,715 109,740
44,843 33,772
452,073 340,460
114,506 86,236
2,161,183 1,627,606
31-July-2013  31-July-2013
usD EUR
5,005,169 3,769,435
1,523,915 1,147,673
6,529,084 4,917,108
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Il. Market Risk (continued)
i. Currency Risk (continued)

iShares MSCI EM EMEA UCITS ETF (Swap)*

Currency Currency
Cash Investments Exposure Exposure Sensitivity 31-July-2013 31-July-2013
usbD usD usD EUR Movement usD EUR
Euro - 7,923,449 7,923,449 5,967,216 5% 377,301 284,149
Swedish Krona - 4,054,208 4,054,208 3,053,258 5% 193,057 145,393
Total 570,358 429,542
iShares MSCI India UCITS ETF (Swap)*
Currency Currency
Cash Investments Exposure Exposure Sensitivity 31-July-2013 31-July-2013
usD uUsSD uUsD EUR Movement usD EUR
Euro — 22,058,347 22,058,347 16,612,327 5% 1,050,382 791,051
Swedish Krona - 7,875,778 7,875,778 5,931,315 5% 375,035 282,442
Total 1,425,417 1,073,493
iShares MSCI Korea UCITS ETF (Acc)
Currency Currency
Cash Investments Exposure Exposure Sensitivity 31-July-2013 31-July-2013
usD usD usD EUR Movement usD EUR
Korean Won 21,520 48,631,487 48,653,007 36,640,989 5% 2,316,810 1,744,809
Total 2,316,810 1,744,809
iShares MSCI Taiwan UCITS ETF (Swap)*
Currency Currency
Cash Investments Exposure Exposure Sensitivity 31-July-2013 31-July-2013
uUsD usbD uUsD EUR Movement uUsD EUR
Euro - 13,862,120 13,862,120 10,439,679 5% 660,091 497,120
Swedish Krona - 3,141,822 3,141,822 2,366,133 5% 149,610 112,672
Total 809,701 609,792
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15. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Il. Market Risk (continued)

i. Currency Risk (continued)

iShares MSCI Australia - B UCITS ETF

Cash Investments
uUsbD uUsD
Australian Dollars 229,832 24,769,502

Total

Currency
Exposure

usD
24,999,334

iShares MSCI EM Latin America UCITS ETF (Acc)

Cash Investments

usbD uUsD
Brazilian Real 61,881 9,780,652
Chilean Peso - 1,541,475
Colombian Peso 103 1,088,800
Mexican Peso 10,703 4,970,067
Peruvian Neuvo Sol 2 -

Total

iShares MSCI Mexico Capped UCITS ETF

Cash Investments

uUsD uUsD

Mexican Peso
Total

iShares MSCI Brazil UCITS ETF (Acc)

Cash Investments
UsD
21,106,464 21,393,980

UsD
Brazilian Real 287,516

Total

iShares MSCI Chile UCITS ETF

Cash Investments
UsD UsD
Chilean Peso 4,051

Total

Currency
Exposure

usD
9,842,533
1,541,475
1,088,903
4,980,770
2

Currency
Exposure

usD

69,836 40,131,595 40,201,431

Currency
Exposure

uUsD

Currency
Exposure

usD

33,995,880 33,999,931
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Currency
Exposure

EUR
18,827,209

Currency
Exposure

EUR
7,412,494
1,160,898

820,062
3,751,060
2

Currency
Exposure

EUR
30,276,036

Currency
Exposure

EUR
16,111,986

Currency
Exposure

EUR
25,605,634

Sensitivity 31-July-2013 31-July-2013

Movement uUsD EUR
5% 1,190,469 896,552
1,190,469 896,552

Sensitivity 31-July-2013 31-July-2013

Movement uUsD EUR
5% 468,692 352,976

5% 73,404 55,281

5% 51,853 39,051

5% 237,180 178,622

5% _ _
831,129 625,930

Sensitivity 31-July-2013 }1-July-2013
Movement UsD EUR
5% 1,914,355 1,441,717
1,914,355 1,441,717

Sensitivity 31-July-2013 31-July-2013
Movement UsD EUR
5% 1,018,760 767,237
1,018,760 767,237

Sensitivity 31-July-2013 31-July-2013
Movement uUsD EUR
5% 1,619,044 1,219,316
1,619,044 1,219,316
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15. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Il. Market Risk (continued)

i. Currency Risk (continued)

iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap)*

Cash Investments

EUR EUR

Swedish Krona - 7,096,558
Total

iShares MSCI World - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

Cash Investments

UsbD UsD
Australian Dollar 139,483 2,642,311
Canadian Dollar 31,395 3,576,120
Danish Krone 1,608 422,847
Euro 142,237 9,843,861
Hong Kong Dollar 16,724 1,033,613
Israeli Shekel 2,646 184,380
Japanese Yen 69,702 7,467,467
Norwegian Krone 11,330 366,104
Pound Sterling 101,299 7,686,465
Singapore Dollar 7,985 632,819
Swedish Krona 19,149 1,095,015
Swiss Franc 8,031 3,263,911
Total

iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap)*

Cash Investments

uUsD uUsD
Euro - 7,241,908
Swedish Krona - 1,555,671
Total

Currency

Exposure
EUR Movement
7,096,558 5%
Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure
uUsSD EUR
2,781,794 2,094,992
3,607,515 2,716,850
424,455 319,661
9,986,098 7,520,614
1,050,337 791,018
187,026 140,851
7,537,169 5,676,305
377,434 284,249
7,787,764 5,865,031
640,804 482,595
1,114,164 839,086
3,271,942 2,464,127
Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure
uUSsD EUR
7,241,908 5,453,942
1,555,671 1,171,589
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Sensitivity 31-July-2013

EUR
337,937

337,937

Sensitivity 31-July-2013  31-July-2013
Movement usb EUR
5% 132,469 99,764

5% 171,784 129,372

5% 20,212 15,222

5% 475,521 358,119

5% 50,016 37,667

5% 8,906 6,707

5% 358,913 270,300

5% 17,973 13,536

5% 370,846 279,287

5% 30,515 22,981

5% 53,055 39,956

5% 155,800 117,334
1,846,010 1,390,245

Sensitivity 31-July-2013 31-July-2013
Movement usb EUR
5% 344,848 259,708

5% 74,079 55,790
418,927 315,498
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

15. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Il. Market Risk (continued)

i. Currency Risk (continued)

iShares Global Alternative Energy UCITS ETF

Currency

Cash Investments Exposure

UsbD UsD uUsbD

Australian Dollar 921 62,338 63,259
Brazilian Real 1,490 - 1,490
Canadian Dollar 10,709 540,345 551,054
Danish Krone 7,321 748,499 755,820
Euro 16,455 3,838,216 3,854,671
Hong Kong Dollar 11,493 876,991 888,484
Japanese Yen 16,616 540,908 557,524
Korean Won - 2,468,349 2,468,349
Norwegian Krone 32 - 32
Pound Sterling 18,297 1,025,240 1,043,537
Singapore Dollar 11,535 991,534 1,003,069
Taiwan Dollar 15,725 - 15,725

Total

Currency
Exposure Sensitivity 31-July-2013 31-July-2013
EUR Movement uUsD EUR
47,641 5% 3,012 2,269
1,122 5% 71 53
415,003 5% 26,241 19,762
569,214 5% 35,991 27,105
2,902,985 5% 183,556 138,237
669,125 5% 42,309 31,863
419,876 5% 26,549 19,994
1,858,934 5% 117,540 88,521
24 5% 2 1
785,896 5% 49,692 37,424
755,420 5% 47,765 35,972
11,843 5% 749 564
533,477 401,765

The table below lists the Funds” that do not have any significant currency risk exposure as at 31 July 2013.

iShares MSCI UK Large Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI UK Small Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI| USA Large Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI USA Small Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI Japan Large Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI Japan Small Cap UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF

iShares USD Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares USD Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares USD Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF
(Acc)

iShares Euro Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares Euro Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares Euro Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares USD Inflation Linked Bond UCITS ETF

iShares Euro Inflation Link Bond UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI USA - B UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI Japan - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares MSCI Canada - B UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI UK UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF

iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares Dow Jones Industrial Average®™ UCITS ETF

iShares NASDAQ 100 UCITS ETF

iShares FTSE 100 UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares FTSE MIB UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares Nikkei 225 UCITS ETF

iShares S&P 500 - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares MSCI Russia ADR/GDR UCITS ETF

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.
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15. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Il. Market Risk (continued)

i. Currency Risk (continued)

The following tables set out the Funds’ total exposure to foreign currency as at 31 July 2012 together with sensitivity

analysis thereon.

iShares MSCI Europe - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

Cash

EUR
Swiss Franc 29,414
Danish Krone 2,093
Pound Sterling 150,978
Norwegian Krone 1,650
Swedish Krona 1,147
US Dollar 840
Total

Investments
EUR
6,238,809
850,460
16,755,292
677,120
2,376,468

iShares MSCI Pacific ex Japan UCITS ETF (Acc)

Cash
usb
Australian Dollar 361,328
Hong Kong Dollar 94,325
New Zealand Dollar 4,873
Singapore Dollar 63,790

Total

Investments
uUsD
29,749,606
9,868,974
414,969
6,269,021

iShares MSCI South Africa - B UCITS ETF

Cash
UsD
South African Rand 183,299

Total

Investments
UsD
64,866,274

Currency

Exposure Sensitivity
EUR Movement
6,268,223 5%
852,553 5%
16,906,270 5%
678,770 5%
2,377,615 5%
840 5%
Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure
uUsbD EUR
30,110,933 24,449,265
9,963,299 8,089,930
419,842 340,900
6,332,811 5,142,071
Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure
uUsD EUR
65,049,573 52,818,497
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31-July-2012
EUR
298,482
40,598
805,067
32,322
113,220
40
1,289,729
Sensitivity 31-July-2012 31-July-2012
Movement usbD EUR
5% 1,433,861 1,164,257
5% 474,110 384,965
5% 19,992 16,233
5% 301,562 244,861
2,229,525 1,810,316
Sensitivity 31-July-2012 31-July-2012
Movement uUsD EUR
5% 3,252,489 2,640,934
3,252,489 2,640,934
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15. Financial Risk Management (continued)

Il. Market Risk (continued)

i. Currency Risk (continued)

iShares MSCI EM Asia UCITS ETF

Cash Investments

uUsD uUsD
Chinese Yuan 24,688 -
Hong Kong Dollar 56,559 18,588,053
Indonesian Rupiah 8,560 3,101,173
Korean Won 2,701 16,117,283
Malaysian Ringgit 3,251 3,923,712
Philippine Peso - 984,731
Thailand Baht - 2,285,121
Taiwan Dollar 152,173 11,085,209

Total

iShares CSI 300 UCITS ETF (Swap)*

Cash Investments

uUsD uUsD
Euro - 60,066,020
Swedish Krona - 23,255,623
Total

iShares MSCI EM EMEA UCITS ETF (Swap)*

Cash Investments

uUsD uUsD
Euro - 8,320,781
Swedish Krona - 3,823,175
Total

iShares MSCI India UCITS ETF (Swap)*

Cash Investments

uUsD uUsD
Euro - 27,847,023
Swedish Krona - 12,609,580
Total

Currency
Exposure

uUSD
24,688
18,644,612
3,109,732
16,119,984
3,926,963
984,731
2,285,121
11,237,382

Currency
Exposure

usD
60,066,020
23,255,623

Currency
Exposure

usD
8,320,781
3,823,175

Currency
Exposure

usD
27,847,023
12,609,580
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Currency
Exposure

EUR
20,046
15,138,921
2,525,018
13,088,992
3,188,588
799,575
1,855,457
9,124,451

Currency
Exposure

EUR
48,771,987
18,882,938

Currency
Exposure

EUR
6,756,249
3,104,315

Currency
Exposure

EUR
22,611,031
10,238,639

Sensitivity 31-July-2012  31-July-2012
Movement uUsD EUR
5% 1,176 955

5% 888,008 721,039

5% 148,083 120,239

5% 767,618 623,286

5% 186,998 151,838

5% 46,892 38,075

5% 108,815 88,355

5% 534,714 434,173
2,682,304 2,177,960

Sensitivity 31-July-2012 31-July-2012
Movement UsD EUR
5% 2,860,287 2,322,477

5% 1,107,411 899,188
3,967,698 3,221,665

Sensitivity 31-July-2012 31-July-2012
Movement UsD EUR
5% 396,228 321,726

5% 182,056 147,825
578,284 469,551

Sensitivity 31-July-2012  31-July-2012
Movement uUsD EUR
5% 1,326,049 1,076,716

5% 600,456 487,554
1,926,505 1,564,270
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15. Financial Risk Management (continued)
Il. Market Risk (continued)

i. Currency Risk (continued)

iShares MSCI Korea UCITS ETF (Acc)

Cash Investments
UsD UsSD
Korean Won 4,575 30,953,633

Total

iShares MSCI Taiwan UCITS ETF (Swap)*

Cash Investments

uUsD uUSsD
Euro - 15,814,707
Swedish Krona - 2,697,460
Total

iShares MSCI Australia - B UCITS ETF

Cash Investments
UsD UsD
Australian Dollar 182,031 45,483,241

Total

iShares MSCI EM Latin America UCITS ETF (Acc)

Cash Investments

uUsD usbD
Brazilian Real 27,543 11,740,597
Chilean Peso 2,998 1,746,340
Colombian Peso 55 1,133,283
Mexican Peso 10,755 4,506,872
Peruvian Neuvo Sol 3 59,247

Total

iShares MSCI Mexico Capped UCITS ETF

Cash Investments
UsD UsD
Mexican Peso 171,711 71,302,563

Total

Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure Sensitivity 31-July-2012 31-July-2012
uUsD EUR Movement usbD EUR
30,958,208 25,137,229 5% 1,473,983 1,196,835
1,473,983 1,196,835

Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure Sensitivity 31-July-2012 31-July-2012
uUsD EUR Movement uUsD EUR
15,814,707 12,841,115 5% 753,081 611,482
2,697,460 2,190,265 5% 128,450 104,298
881,531 715,780

Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure Sensitivity 31-July-2012 31-July-2012
uUsD EUR Movement usb EUR
45,665,272 37,078,968 5% 2,288,395 1,858,116
2,288,395 1,858,116

Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure Sensitivity 31-July-2012 31-July-2012
usb EUR Movement usbD EUR
11,768,139 9,555,411 5% 560,388 455,020
1,749,338 1,420,415 5% 83,159 67,523
1,133,338 920,240 5% 53,972 43,824
4,517,627 3,668,191 5% 215,125 174,676
59,250 48,109 5% 2,821 2,291
915,465 743,334

Currency Currency
Exposure Exposure Sensitivity 31-July-2012 31-July-2012
usb EUR Movement uUsbD EUR
71,474,274 58,035,181 5% 3,403,537 2,763,582
3,403,537 2,763,582
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15. Financial Risk Management (continued)
Il. Market Risk (continued)

i. Currency Risk (continued)

iShares MSCI Brazil UCITS ETF (Acc)

Cash Investments
UsD UsD
Brazilian Real 251,645 68,986,004

Total

iShares MSCI Chile UCITS ETF

Cash Investments
UsD UsSD
Chilean Peso 10,080 44,507,524

Total

iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap)*

Cash Investments

EUR EUR
Swedish Krona - 10,592,191
Total

iShares MSCI World - B UCITS ETF (Acc)

Cash Investments

uUsD uUSsD
Australian Dollar 15,428 1,668,358
Canadian Dollar 15,988 2,183,796
Swiss Franc 10,938 1,629,868
Danish Krone 5,524 256,584
Euro 61,263 4,767,604
Pound Sterling 50,696 4,167,990
Hong Kong Dollar 12,891 526,974
Israeli Shekel 4,515 100,849
Japanese Yen 11,330 3,837,667
Norwegian Krone 6,070 184,681
Swedish Krona 8,130 574,785
Singapore Dollar 5,779 384,716

Total

Currency
Exposure

usD
69,237,649

Currency
Exposure

uUsSD
44,517,604

Currency
Exposure

EUR
10,592,191

Currency
Exposure

UsD
1,683,786
2,199,784
1,640,806

262,108
4,828,867
4,218,686

539,865

105,364
3,848,997

190,751

582,915

390,495
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Currency
Exposure

EUR
56,219,102

Currency
Exposure

EUR
36,147,092

Sensitivity
Movement
5%

Currency
Exposure

EUR
1,367,189
1,786,165
1,332,290

212,825
3,920,909
3,425,459

438,356

85,553
3,125,282

154,885

473,312

317,072

Sensitivity 31-July-2012 31-July-2012

Movement usSb EUR

5% 3,296,957 2,677,041

3,296,957 2,677,041

Sensitivity 31-July-2012 31-July-2012

Movement usbD EUR

5% 2,119,406 1,720,901

2,119,406 1,720,901
31-July-2012
EUR
504,390
504,390

Sensitivity 31-July-2012  31-July-2012

Movement UsD EUR

5% 80,181 65,104

5% 104,752 85,056

5% 78,134 63,442

5% 12,481 10,135

5% 229,946 186,710

5% 200,890 163,117

5% 25,708 20,874

5% 5,017 4,074

5% 183,286 148,823

5% 9,083 7,375

5% 27,758 22,539

5% 18,595 15,099

975,831 792,348
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15. Financial Risk Management (continued)
Il. Market Risk (continued)

i. Currency Risk (continued)

iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap)*

Cash Investments

uUsD uUsD
Euro - 4,664,665
Swedish Krona - 430,912
Total

iShares Global Alternative Energy UCITS ETF

Cash Investments

uUsbD UsD
Australian Dollar 49 -
Brazilian Real 1,658 -
Canadian Dollar 8,162 978,288
Danish Krone 1,493 524,573
Euro 25,478 3,412,189
Pound Sterling 4,843 1,348,520
Hong Kong Dollar 1,185 462,362
Japanese Yen 1,607 281,998
Korean Won - 2,992,336
Norwegian Krone 32 -
Singapore Dollar 1,591 1,156,161
Total

Currency
Exposure

uUsSD
4,664,665
430,912

Currency
Exposure
uUsD

49

1,658
986,450
526,066
3,437,667
1,353,363
463,547
283,605
2,992,336
32
1,157,752

Currency
Exposure

EUR
3,787,582
349,889

Currency
Exposure
EUR

40

1,346
800,971
427,152
2,791,293
1,098,894
376,387
230,280
2,429,696
26
940,063

Sensitivity 31-July-2012  31-July-2012
Movement UsD EUR
5% 222,127 180,361

5% 20,520 16,661
242,647 197,022

Sensitivity 31-July-2012  31-July-2012
Movement UsD EUR
5% 2 2

5% 79 64

5% 46,974 38,141

5% 25,051 20,341

5% 163,698 132,919

5% 64,446 52,328

5% 22,074 17,923

5% 13,505 10,966

5% 142,492 115,700

5% 2 1

5% 55,131 44,765
533,454 433,150

*There is no currency risk on the swap. There is only currency risk in the substitute basket as the investments in this
basket are not all in the reference currency of the Fund. However, this currency risk would only be relevant in the case

for a counterparty default.

64



iShares VIl plc
Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 July 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
15. Financial Risk Management (continued)
Il. Market Risk (continued)
i. Currency Risk (continued)

The table below lists the Funds” that do not have any significant currency risk exposure as at 31 July 2012.

iShares MSCI UK Large Cap UCITS ETF iShares MSCI UK Small Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI USA Large Cap UCITS ETF iShares MSCI USA Small Cap UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI Japan Large Cap UCITS ETF iShares MSCI Japan Small Cap UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares MSCI EMU Small Cap UCITS ETF iShares USD Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares USD Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) iShares USD Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF
(Acc)

iShares Euro Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) iShares Euro Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares Euro Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) iShares USD Inflation Linked Bond UCITS ETF

iShares Euro Inflation Link Bond UCITS ETF iShares MSCI USA - B UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI Japan - B UCITS ETF (Acc) iShares MSCI Canada - B UCITS ETF

iShares MSCI UK UCITS ETF iShares MSCI EMU UCITS ETF

iShares EURO STOXX 50® - B UCITS ETF (Acc) iShares Dow Jones Industrial Average®™ UCITS ETF

iShares NASDAQ 100 UCITS ETF iShares FTSE 100 UCITS ETF (Acc)

iShares FTSE MIB UCITS ETF (Acc) iShares Nikkei 225 UCITS ETF

iShares S&P 500 - B UCITS ETF (Acc) iShares MSCI Russia ADR/GDR UCITS ETF

APlease refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.

At 31 July 2013, had the exchange rate between the base currency of the Fund and the currencies set out in the tables
above increased or decreased by 5%, which management considers to be a reasonably possible fluctuation, with all other
variables remaining constant, the income and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating shares would
have increased or decreased by the amounts shown above. The analysis was performed on the same basis for 31 July
2012.

The analysis is based on the assumptions that the relevant base currency increased/decreased by 5%, with all other
variables held constant and that the fair value of the Funds’ portfolio of equity securities moved according to their
historical correlation with the relevant base currency.

The sensitivity analysis presented is based upon the portfolio composition as at 31 July 2013 and as at 31 July 2012 and
the historic correlation of the securities comprising the portfolio to the respective indices. The composition of the Funds’
investment portfolios and the correlation thereof to the relevant base currency is expected to change over time.
Accordingly, the sensitivity analysis prepared as of 31 July 2013 and as of 31 July 2012 is not necessarily indicative of the
effect on the Funds’ net assets attributed to holders of redeemable participating shares of future movements in the level of
the relevant index.

ii. Interest Rate Risk

The Company may invest in fixed income securities. Any change to the relevant interest rates for particular securities may
result in the Investment Manager being unable to secure similar returns on the expiry of the contracts or the sale of
securities. In addition, changes to prevailing interest rates or changes in expectations of future rates may result in an
increase or decrease in the value of the securities held. In general, if interest rates rise, the value of the fixed income
securities will decline. A decline in interest rates will in general have the opposite effect.
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15. Financial Risk Management (continued)
Il. Market Risk (continued)
ii. Interest Rate Risk (continued)

The below table indicates the interest rate risk exposure as at 31 July 2013:

FundA Base Total Net Floaélantg Fixed Rate Non-Inter_est
Currency Asset Value Interest Interest Bearing
iShares USD Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) USD 31,245,471 37,253 31,057,924 150,294
iShares USD Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) USD 95,051,051 44,429 94,238,731 767,891
iShares USD Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) usD 2,535,153 28,688 2,482,866 23,599
iShares Euro Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR 139,765,403 764,588 137,184,556 1,816,259
iShares Euro Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR 79,562,946 835974 77,629,598 1,097,374
iShares Euro Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR 16,846,379 109,023 16,505,486 231,870
iShares Euro Inflation Link Bond UCITS ETF EUR 35,509,216 291,185 35,098,256 119,775
iShares USD Inflation Linked Bond UCITS ETF USD 42,680,499 210,873 42,406,365 63,261
iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap) EUR 22,006,670 43 22,148,621  (141,994)
iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap) usD 8,719,930 16 8,797,579 (77,665)
The below table indicates the interest rate risk exposure as at 31 July 2012:
Base Total Net Floa:;lalr\tge Fixed Rate Non-Interest
Fund? Currency Asset Value Interest Interest Bearing
iShares USD Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) USD 54,147,915 150,326 53,738,335 259,254
iShares USD Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) USD 127,504,441 182,240 126,450,196 872,005
iShares USD Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) USD 13,193,314 7,957 13,055,186 130,171
iShares Euro Government Bond 1-3 UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR 167,586,352 1,096,324 169,004,093 (2,514,065)
iShares Euro Government Bond 3-7 UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR 90,719,577 775,627 88,578,359 1,365,591
iShares Euro Government Bond 7-10 UCITS ETF (Acc) EUR 17,465,239 172,054 17,034,235 258,950
iShares USD Inflation Linked Bond UCITS ETF UsSD 59,212,900 316,000 58,802,998 93,902
iShares Euro Inflation Link Bond UCITS ETF EUR 41,806,802 397,388 41,265,134 144,280
iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap) EUR 27,142,947 49 27,021,780 121,118
iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap) usD 5,094,140 6 5,095,577 (1,443)

A Please refer to Note 17 and Note 21 of the financial statements.

*iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap) and iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap) are exposed to interest
rate risk through the total return swap. It is expected that the weighted average interest rates are within the range of
0.00% to 0.50% and (0.05%) to 0.05% for iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap) and iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate
UCITS ETF (Swap), respectively.

** iShares EONIA UCITS ETF (Swap) and iShares Fed Funds Effective Rate UCITS ETF (Swap) are re-set overnight.

No other Funds have significant interest rate risk exposure as at 31 July 2013 and 31 July 2012.
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15. Financial Risk Management (continued)
Il. Market Risk (continued)
ii. Interest Rate Risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis below shows the change in the value of the securities held due to a parallel interest rates shift as
at 31 July 2013:

Fund? Base Total Net Parallel Change
Currency Asset Value Interest Rates P